國立臺灣大學獸醫專業學院獸醫學研究所

碩士論文

Graduate Institute Veterinary Medicine College of Veterinary Medicine National Taiwan University Master Thesis

雞熱休克蛋白 70 之 DNA 異種疫苗可抑制犬腫瘤生長

Chicken HSP70 DNA xenogeneic vaccine inhibits

tumor growth in a canine cancer



指導教授:朱瑞民 博士

Advisor: Rea-Min Chu, D.V.M., Ph.D

中華民國 99 年 4 月

April, 2010

國立臺灣大學碩士學位論文

口試委員會審定書

雞熱休克蛋白70之異種DNA疫苗可抑制犬腫瘤 生長

Chicken HSP70 xenogeneic DNA vaccine inhibits tumor growth in a canine cancer model

本論文係游文瑛君(學號 R96629020)在國立臺灣大學 獸醫學系、所完成之碩士學位論文,於民國 99 年 4 月 28 日 承下列考試委員審查通過及口試及格,特此證明

口試委員:	朱兆氏	(簽名)
	殿光(指導教授)	
104 104	Fight H	
Ъ.	威泰慶	
系主任、所長	倒振鲜	(簽名)

詰謝

盼了這麼久,總算到了寫誌謝的這一天。回想起當初到台大找指導教授的那一 天,我抱著一定要『變得很強』的信念,毅然加入實驗室。非常感謝<u>朱瑞民</u>老師在 學術的道路上,孜孜不倦的教導我,也不斷的提點我做人處事的道理。我尤其佩服 的是老師對研究的熱情及處事的智慧。也謝謝實驗室提供參加學術研討會的機會, 讓我見識到天下之大的同時,也了解到自己的渺小。

感謝<u>李文權</u>副所長、<u>廖光文</u>老師、<u>詹東榮</u>老師及<u>廖泰慶</u>老師在論文及實驗方面 給我的諸多幫助及建議。感謝<u>劉振軒</u>老師提供做實驗的抗體。感謝<u>愈善</u>學長在我碰 到瓶頸的時候,總是不斷鼓勵我,並提供實驗的方向,任何困難總是會迎刃而解。 感謝<u>辰栖</u>學姐在實驗和生活上的協助,妳的溫柔及高EQ 是我的學習的好榜樣。感謝 <u>正</u>吉學長,因為有你的熱心幫助,讓我能有更多的時間且無後顧之憂的專心於研究。 感謝<u>添富</u>學長,多虧了你的耐心的帶領我一步一步慢慢的進行實驗,我才能有此進 步。感謝<u>小君</u>學姐的關懷,在我最低潮的時候,給我信心和力量。感謝<u>欣蒨</u>學姐如 同姐姐般對我的照顧與包容。感謝<u>墨繁</u>學姐及<u>小自</u>學長的用心,讓我的學習效率提 升了不少。感謝<u>漢容</u>一路上的陪伴與支持,樂觀又活潑的妳總是如同小太陽般的溫 暖我。感謝<u>佳禧</u>,妳擦拭了我許許多多的眼淚。感謝<u>君珮、宜倫及大頭</u>對實驗室事 務的分擔,你們的貼心使我在攸關畢業與否的生死關頭能更心無旁驚的衝刺。感謝 <u>國皓兄及承龍</u>哥哥不厭其煩的帶我做免疫組織化學染色。感謝在這段日子裡鼓勵我 的朋友們。

感謝實驗犬們對學屆的犧牲與奉獻,由衷的希望腫瘤疫苗能順利的發展,使罹 患腫瘤的病犬們都有機會得到更好的醫療服務。感謝<u>嘉玲</u>阿姨在生活上的種種援 助,沒有這台筆電,我豈能快速的完成這大筆的實驗數據的分析呢?感謝父母的養育 之恩。我很努力的遵守著諾言,用最快的速度完成我的學業。而今我終於碩士畢業 了,你們終於可以放下重擔,享享清福了!

文瑛

Π

中文摘要

接種異種動物之去氧核醣核酸 (xenogeneic DNA) 被認為是一種有效治療腫瘤 的方式,此種疫苗可使免疫系統針對表現於腫瘤之自我抗原,產生特異性抗體及毒 殺型 T 細胞,克服腫瘤免疫耐受性。熱休克蛋白 70 (HSP70) 表現於許多腫瘤,且 被認為與腫瘤生長有密切的關係。本研究乃接種雞 (chicken HSP70, chHSP70) DNA 疫苗至具傳染性花柳性腫瘤犬隻,作為異種動物 DNA 以引發對抗自我抗原的免疫 反應。實驗共分三組: 第一組 (G1) 於接種腫瘤前施打此 DNA 疫苗,用以評估預 防效果。第二組 (G2) 於接種腫瘤後施打疫苗,用以評估此 DNA 疫苗之治療效果。 第三組 (G3)的免疫計劃與第一組相同,僅於第三劑給予方式由肌肉電衝改為經皮注 射。另有 4 隻未經治療的腫瘤接種犬 (No treatment, NT) 做為控制組。除此之外, 每組疫苗組皆另有一隻腫瘤接種犬隻注射空白載體做為質體控制組。結果顯示,本 疫苗於G1有明顯抑制腫瘤生長的效果 (第9周),其腫瘤也比第G2(第18周)、G3(第 12 周)和 NT 組 (第 14 周) 較早消退。在腫瘤消退期, G1 之 CD4⁺腫瘤浸潤淋巴球 也顯著的高於 G2 及 NT (56.77% vs. 23.56% and 22.73%)。週邊血液單核細胞對腫瘤 細胞的毒殺能力在三組疫苗組中皆顯著性上升。ELISpot 試驗顯示,於腫瘤消退期, G1之犬 HSP70 特異性 IFN-y 分泌淋巴球亦顯著高於 G2及 NT (90.68 cells vs. 19.82 and 20.67 cells)。然而,在三組疫苗組中,自然殺手細胞的毒殺能力皆無顯著差異。

綜合以上結果顯示,疫苗引發免疫系統對抗腫瘤的能力會依免疫計劃及疫苗給 予方式而有不同。在犬傳染性花柳性腫瘤模式中,預防性的給予異種 chHSP70 去 氧核醣核酸疫苗,產生抗犬 HSP70 之免疫反應,可成功克服腫瘤免疫耐受性,抑 制腫瘤的生長。然而需更進一步的實驗證明異種 chHSP70 可應用於其他腫瘤的治療。

關鍵詞: 異種去氧核醣核酸疫苗、熱休克蛋白70、犬傳染性花柳性腫瘤、經皮 注射

Abstract

Immunization with xenogeneic DNA is a promising cancer treatment, as it generates autoantibodies and cytotoxic T cells to break the tumor tolerance against self-antigens. Heat shock protein 70 (HSP70) is overexpressed in many kinds of tumors and is believed to be heavily involved in tumor progression. This study employed a xenogeneic chicken HSP70 (chHSP70) DNA vaccine in a canine transmissible venereal tumor (CTVT) model in beagles to break the tumor tolerance by inducing immune responses towards canine HSP70 self-antigens. In this study, three vaccination groups were created: the first (G1) was designed to evaluate the prophylactic efficiency of the chHSP70 DNA vaccine by delivering the vaccine prior to tumor inoculation; the second (G2) was designed to evaluate the therapeutic efficacy in developed tumors by vaccinating the dogs after tumor inoculation; and the third (G3) consisted of the same vaccination schedule as that of G1, with the exception that the intramuscular injection/electroporation method used to administer the third vaccination in G1 was replaced with a transdermal injection. Four CTVT-bearing dogs that received no treatment (NT) served as controls, and one dog in each vaccination group immunized with empty vector served as a vector control. Tumor growth was notably inhibited only in the G1 dogs, in which the vaccination program triggered tumor regression much sooner (beginning in week 9) than in the G2 (week 18), G3 (week 12) and NT (week 14) dogs. The $CD4^+$ subpopulation of tumor-infiltrating lymphocytes was significantly increased during tumor regression in the G1 dogs as compared with the G2 and NT dogs (56.77% vs. 23.56% and 22.73%, respectively) and was similar to that of G3. The tumor-specific cytotoxicity of peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMCs) in all dogs in the three vaccination groups was dramatically enhanced, and ELISpot assay indicated that canine HSP70-specific IFN-y-secreting lymphocytes were much more abundant in G1 animals than in G2 or G3 during tumor regression (90.68 cells *vs.* 19.82 and 20.67 cells, respectively). However, there was no significant difference in NK cytotoxicity between the experimental groups.

In summary, the antitumor activity varied according to the vaccination strategy. Prophylactic administration of the xenogeneic *chHSP70* DNA vaccine following delivery of a boost via electroporation successively broke the tumor tolerance to canine HSP70 and effectively inhibited tumor growth. Xenogeneic *chHSP70* can thus be considered a potential tumor vaccine, and further research regarding this application is warranted.

Key words: Xenogeneic DNA vaccine, HSP70, CTVT, transdermal injection



Abbreviation

TCR	T cell receptor
Treg	Regulatory T cell
IL	Interleukin
TGF-β	Transforming growth factor beta
CTL	cytotoxicity T lymphocyte
МНС	Major Histocompatibility Complex
RNAi	RNA interference
SiRNA	Small interfering RNA
APC	Antigen presenting cell
HSP	Heat shock protein
VV	Vaccinia virus
LC	Langerhans cell
DC	Dendritic cell
TD NF	Transdermal needle-free
IFN-γ	Interferon-gamma
TIL	Tumor infiltrating lymphocyte
PEI	polyethyleneimine
TLR	Toll-like receptor
IDO	Indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase
СММ	Canine malignant melanoma
KP MST	Kaplan-Meier median survival time

Contents

審定書	I
誌謝	II
中文摘要	III
Abstract	IV
Abbreviation	VI
Contents	VII
Chapter 1. Background and Literatures review	1
1.1 The immunological tolerance	1
1.2 TUMOR ESCAPING MECHANISM	2
1.3 TUMOR ANTIGENS	3
Table 1 Identified tumor antigens in human	4
1.4 HEAT SHOCK PROTEIN (HSP)	5
1.5 The strategies to break tumor tolerance	8
1.5.1 Tumor antigens overexpression	8
1.5.2 Difference in HLA molecules needed to present shared antigens	9
1.5.3 Inhibition of immunosuppressive mechanisms	9
1.5.4. Co-encapsulation of dual siRNAs and tumour antigens	9
1.5.5 Xenogeneic antigens	10
1.6 The delivery system for DNA vaccines	11
1.6.1 Viral vector	11
1.6.2 Non-viral vector	12
1.6.2.1 Electroporation	13
1 6 2 2 Needle-free injection	15
1.7 CURRENT PROGRESSES OF XENOGENEIC DNA VACCINE IN TREATING CANCERS IN CANINE AND	
HUMANS	16
1.8 Canine transmissible venereal tumor (CTVT) model and vaccine development	
1.9 Objectives of this study	20

Chapter 2. Introduction	
Chapter 3. Material & Method	24
3.1 CHICKEN HSP70 XENOGENEIC DNA VACCINE	24
3.3 SAMPLE COLLECTION	25
3.4 CTVT INOCULATION	26
3.5 PERIPHERAL BLOOD MONONUCLEAR CELL PREPARATION	26
3.6 CTVT SAMPLES AND TILS ISOLATION	27
3.7 FLOW CYTOMETRY ANALYSIS	27
3.8 IMMUNOHISTOCHEMICAL STAINING	28
3.9 CTVT SPECIFIC CYTOTOXICITY ASSAY	28
3.10 IFN-Γ SECRETING AND HSP70 SPECIFIC LYMPHOCYTES DETECTION	29
3.11 NK CYTOTOXICITY ASSAY	30
3.12 ELISA	30
3.13 STATISTICS	31
Chapter 4. Results	32
4.1 VACCINATIONS FOLLOWED BY ELECTROPORATION PRIOR TO TUMOR INOCULATION SUPPRESSED T	THE
TUMOR GROWTH MORE EFFICIENTLY.	32
4.2 INFILTRATION OF TUMOR MASSES BY MANY T LYMPHOCYTES IN GT TUMORS BEGAN IN P PHASE	33
4.3 CYTOTOXICITY TOWARD CT VT WAS HIGHER IN GT DOGS	34
4.4 XENOGENEIC CHHSP /0 DNA VACCINATION INDUCED CAHSP /0-SPECIFIC THT RESPONSE.	34
4.5 NK CYTOTOXICITY MAY NOT CONTRIBUTION TO THE TUMOR INHIBITION.	35
4.6 HUMORAL RESPONSE AGAINST CANINE AND CHHSP /0 DID NOT DIFFER BETWEEN GROUPS	35
4.7 THE TOXICITY OF CHHSP /0 VACCINATION.	35 37
Figures	43
FIGURE 1 SCHEMATIC MAP OF THE PCG073 PLASMID MAP OF WHICH ENCODED CHICKEN HSP70	13
SEQUENCE.	43
FIGURE 3 VACCINATION STRATEGIES IN GROUPS	++ 15
FIGURE 4 INHIBITION OF TUMOR GROWTH AFTER VACCINATIONS	+3 17
FIGURE 5 HISTORATHOLOGY OF CTVT AT D BUASE	/ + ۸۷
FIGURE 6 $CD4^+$ and $CD8^+$ TH s surdodul ations at P duase and P duase in doos	+0 /10
FIGURE 7 IMMUNOHISTOCHEMISTRY STATNING FOR CD3 1 VMDHOOVTES	1 9 51
FIGURE / IMMUNORIDITOCHEMISTRY STAINING FOR CDJ LIMPHOCITES	

	FIGURE 8 THE CYTOTOXICITY OF PBMC TO CTVT FROM DOGS IMMUNIZED THE XENOGENEIC CHHSP70)
	DNA VACCINE WERE INCREASED.	53
	Figure 9 Canine HSP70-specific IFN- γ production at SR or R phase were significantly higher	R
	IN G1 DOGS THAN OTHER GROUPS	55
	Figure 10 NK cytotoxicity in vaccination groups showed no significantly increased after	
	THREE TIMES VACCINATIONS.	57
	FIGURE 11 THE HUMORAL RESPONSE AGAINST CAHSP70 AND CHHSP70.	58
Гг	bles5	59

TABLE 1 THE SAMPL	ES AND COLLECTION TIME POINTS IN EACH EXPERIMENTAL GROUP	59
TABLE 2 THE CD4 A	ND CD8 ANTINODIES HAVEN BEEN TESTED FOR IMMUNOHISOCHE	MISTRY STAINING
FOR TILS SUBPOPULA	ATIONS ASSAY	60
TABLE 3 TOXICITY S	TUDY OF XENOGENEIC CHHSP70 DNA VACCINE	60
Reference		61



Chapter 1. Background and Literatures review

1.1 The immunological tolerance

The immunological tolerance is defined as "unresponsiveness" to an antigen that is induced by previous exposure to the self antigens during the immature lymphocytes development at thymus or bone marrow. Tolerance to self antigens, also called self tolerance, is a fundamental property of the normal immune system. Notably, the immunological tolerance is essential for discrimination between self and non-self [1, 2].

The self tolerance is acquired and maintained by a combination of central tolerance and peripheral tolerance [1, 2]. Central tolerance occurs at the primary sites of lymphocytes development, the thymus for developing T cells and the bone marrow for developing B cells [1, 3]. The affinity of TCRs on progenitors to self-peptide-MHC complex is crucial parameter that drives the fate of developmental outcome. Progenitors with "high" affinity to self-peptide-MHC complex are eliminated by negative selection. The majority process of negative selection is clonal deletion. Recent studies indicate that B cells with high affinity to self-peptide-MHC complex can edit their antigen receptor, and change antigen specificity in the bone marrow and known as receptor editing. This receptor editing generated less self-reactive lymphocytes that might be selected to the periphrery [4, 5]. All the three processes such as clonal deletion, receptor editing and anergy are thought to be negative selection. In contrast, progenitors-bearing TCRs with "low" affinity to self-peptide-MHC complex expressed on epithelial cells of the thymic cortex are survived from programmed apoptosis and then are positively selected into the periphery [1, 3]. These "weakly" self-reactive progenitors then mature and populate the lymphoid organs to participate in immune responses toward foreign antigens [1].

Meanwhile, the CD4⁺ lymphocytes with low affinity to self-peptide-MHC complex differentiate into regulatory T cells (Tregs) that are entered the periphery and play an important role in mataining the peripheral tolerance. The overall consequence of these processes of central tolerance are the emergence in the periphery of a T cell repertoire that weakly recognize self MHC/self peptide complex but has strong reactivity for recognizing self MHC/foreign peptide complex [3].

Although most self reactive lymphocytes are elimated during central tolerance, they can not eliminate all of the self-reactive lymphocytes because not all self antigens are expressed at the lymphocyte developmental site [1, 6]. To control the activation of autoreactive lymphocytes in the periphery, a number of supressive mechanisms known as peripheral tolerance, such as deletion, anergy and suppressive regulation by Treg cells to prevent the autoimmunity [2, 6].

1.2 Tumor escaping mechanism

There are mechanisms that tumors may actively evade or suppress immune system as following: 1. Tumor cells escape cytotoxicity T lymphocyte (CTL) recognition by loss of expression of antigens or MHC molecules [7]. 2. Deletion of immune effector cells by expression of the apoptosis-inducing Fas ligands [8-10]. 3. Direct tolerization of tumor-reactive lymphocytes by suppressive cytokine, such as interleukin-10 (IL-10) or transforming growth factor-beta (TGF- β) to inhibit the activities of antigen presenting cells [7, 11]. 4. Suppression of tumor-reactive T cells by Treg cells in the tumor site [3, 12]. 5. Tolerization of host T cells by tumor-derived antigens [3]. However, the major reason that limiting immune recognition of tumor cells is that tumors arise from the host own tissue and express self antigens to which the individual's T cells have been tolerized [3]. Interestingly, numbers of researches indicated that the immune system contains autoreactive lymphocytes that can cause destruction host tissue or rejection of tumors by both cellular and humoral responses if activated them properly [13].

1.3 Tumor antigens

Based on the antigen expression pattern of tumors, the following two groups of tumor antigens can be classified: tumor-specific antigens (TSA) and tumor-associated antigens (TAA) [3, 14]. TSA are the antigens whose expression restricted only to the tumors but not expressed by normal cells. These TSA are resulting from the somatic mutation, internal deletions, chromosomal translocation, normal immunoglobulin (Ig) or TCR recombination events peculiar to leukemia B or T cell idotypes [14]. In contrast, tumor antigens that are not only expressed on tumors but also expressed on normal cells are TAA. These antigens are normal cell constituents whose expression are aberrant or disregulated in tumors, but are usually expressed at lower levels in normal tissues. The classifications of tumor cells can served as targeted for immune therapy [11]. In recent years, the strategies including genetic modified tumors, dendritic cells either pulsed or transduced with TAA, recombinant viruses encoding TAA, naked plasmid DNA encoding genes of TAA are used to induce specific immune response to reject tumors [15-22].

Antigen type	Antigen	Tumoe type	Reference
Universal tumor	telomerase, hTERT,	all	[23], [24], [25],
antigen	mdm-2		[26]
Mutated gene	CDK-4	renal	[27]
products			
	β-catenin	colon	[28]
	p53	Esophagus, bladder	[29], [30], [31]
	k-ras	colon, pancreas, gastric, breast	[32], [33], [34], [35]
	bcr-abl	leukemia	[36]
Overexpressed self antigen	Her2/neu	breast, lung, overian	[37], [38], [39], [40]
	proteinase-3	leukemia	[41]
	MUC-1	pancreas, grastic ,breast,	[42], [43] , [44],
		lung,colorectal, lymphoma, bladder	[45], [46], [47], [48]
	WT-1	leukemia, ovarian	[49], [50]
	MART-1/melan-A	melanoma	[51]
	Mesothelin	pancreas, ovarian, mesothelioma	[52], [53], [54]
Tissue-specific differentiation antigen	PSA	prostate, breast	[55], [56]
	Tyrosinase, MART-1/melan-A, gp100, TRP-1, TRP-2	Melanoma	[57], [58], [59], [60]
Cancer testis	MAGE,BAGE,RAGE,	melanoma, renal,	[57], [61], [62], [63],
antigen	GAGE, NY-ESO-1	ovarian ,breast, prostate,	[64], [65], [66], [67],
		testicular, bladder ,gastric, esophageal, hepatocellular, lung, head and neck	[68], [69], [70], [71], [72]
Idiotype	Ig, TCR	Lymphocyte	[73]

Table 1 Identified tumor antigens in human

1.4 Heat shock protein (HSP)

Heat shock proteins (HSPs) were first discovered in 1962 and whose expressions can be inducted in kinds of stresses [74-77]. It is highly conserved protein in both prokaryotes and eukaryotes [74, 76]. HSP can be devide into different families according to their molecular weight [78]. The mammalian HSPs are classified into five families: HSP100, HSP90, HSP70, HSP60 and the small HSPs [74]. HSP90 is constitutively abundant expression in the normal cells. HSP70 and HSP27 are induced via different stresses such as heat, oxidative stress, ethanol, oxidative reagents, chemotherapy, heavy metals, inflammation and anoxia [74, 77]. In normal cells, HSP70 and HSP27 are not expressed or at the very low level. In contrast, the high expression of HSP70 and HSP27 in the cells or tissues are observed in kinds of tumors [74, 78, 79]. HSPs have dual functions depending on their location. Intracellular HSPs have a protective function. They allow cells to survive from lethal damage. The release of HSPs from cells to the blood stream is found in the pathological conditions. These extracellular HSPs mediate immunological functions by both innate and adaptive immunity [74, 76, 79, 80]. The previous experiments demonstrate that B16 melanoma cells were transfected with a heterologous HSP65 dramatically increases the levels of MHC class I molecules on their surface and were efficively lysed by alloreactive T lymphocytes [81, 82].

Intracellular HSP70 Intracellular form of HSP70 has a protective function to cells. They allow the cells to survival from lethal death via the anti-apoptosis mechanism [74, 79]. HSP70 can act at multiple points as following in the apoptotic pathways: 1. at a premitochondrial stage by inhibiting the stress-inducing signals. 2. at the mitochondrial stage by preventing mitochondrial membrane permeabilization through the blockage the Bax translocation and then inhibit the mitochondrial release of proapoptotic protein. 3. at postmitochondrial stage by interacting with apoptosis-inducing factor (AIF) or apoptosis protease-activating factor-1 (Apaf-1) to inhibit the AIF-inducing chromatin condensation and prevent the caspase activation [74]. Therefore, HSP70 play an important role in cell or tumor viability. Intracellular HSP70 also act as molecular chaperones supporting folding, misfolding and transport protins or polypeptides to membrance under the stress or in normal conditions. Peptides of 8 to 26 amino acids are found preferentially interact with the HSP70-peptide binding pockets. And peptides of this lengh are particularly suited as precursors of MHC presentation after subsequent processing [83].

Extracellular or membrane bound HSP70 The release of HSP70 from cells is triggered by physical trauma and stresses. The release of HSP70 occurs both through physiological secretion mechanisms and during necrosis of the cells. After release of HSP70 into the excellular fluid, HSP70 binds to the surfaces of the adjacent cells. Then the signal transduction cascades and the antigenic peptides transporation are initiated. Besides, HSP70 are also able to enter the bloodstream and act at distant sites through the bodies [76]. Research indicates there is no leading sequence in HSP70 [79, 80]. As a chaperone, the mechanism of anchorage and export HSP70 remains to be elucidated. Because the experiment showed that high salt and pH changes did not affect the membrane expression of HSP70, the anchorage of HSP70 in the plasma membrane is though to be associated with lipid protein such as exosome rather than a receptor protein interaction [79].

Both extracellular or membrane bound HSP70 mediate immunological functions. They can elicit immune responses by the adaptive and innate immunity [74]. The chaperone function of HSP70 generates HSP70-peptide complex on the tumors were taken up by APCs via the receptor-mediated endocytosis and cross-presented as classical antigens for CD8⁺ cytotoxic T cells on the MHC class I molecules. Several HSP70 receptors including CD40, CD91 and Toll-like receptor family (TLR-2 and TLR-4) alone or combination with CD14, the LPS receptor are thought to be mediate binding and uptake of HSP70 peptide complex [84-87]. Recently, human APC have been found to interact with HSP70 via scavenger receptor LOX-1 and SRA-1 [88, 89]. HSP70-peptide complex can enhance maturation of DCs and release proinflammatory cytokines such as TNF- α , IL-1 β , IL-12, IL-6 and GM-CSF. These cytokines cause nonspecific resposes of the innate immunity [74-76, 80]. Even in the absence of immunogeneic peptide, the soluble HSP70 or transmembrane HSP70 provide immunostimulatory activity as "danger signals" NK [80, 90]. The 14-mer human to cells HSP70 peptide TKDNNLLGRFELSG(aa⁴⁵⁰⁻⁴⁶³) termed "TKD" provides the minimal sequence with the capacity binding to NK cells and enhance NK cells cytotoxicity against HSP70 membrane-positive tumor cells through granzyme B mediated apoptosis[90-93]. HSP70 also promotes mouse NK cells cytotoxicity against tumors that express inducible NKG2D ligands [94].

Tumor-associated HSP70 Up to date, unmutated HSP70 are found that overexpressing in kinds of tumors, such as breast, endometrial, prostate cancer, gliomas and so on [95-98]. HSP70 have been found on the membrane on the malignant cells [99]. Studies indicate HSP70 facilitates tumorigenicity of cells, including the ability to form tumors in nude mice, formation of foci and the tumor formation in mice xenografts [100, 101]. In addition, overexpression of recombinant HSP70 of human breast cell line MCF-7 led to a strong acceleration of cell growth by shortening the G0/G1 phase [102]. Depletion of HSP70 in tumor cells cause apoptosis-like death in various cell lines such as HSC-2, MCF-7, Molf-4, PC-3 snd human oral carcinoma cells [103-106]. In contrast to the untransformed cells, such as primary firbroblasts and tumor cells isolated from human primary oral carcinoma did not lost viability after the HSP70 depletion. Importantly, senescence of tumor cells have been found by depleting the HSP70 results in strong activation of tumor suppressor genes p53 and cyclin dependent kinase inhibitor p21 [107, 108]. These indicate HSP70 plays an important role in tumor viability and proliferation.

Because of the immunostimulatory functions of HSP70, mycobacterial HSP70 are usually used as adjuvant to kinds of vaccines [109, 110]. The concepts of tumor-derived HSP70 can elicit tumor-specific responses are first found in mouse models [111, 112]. In recent years, tumor-derived HSP70-protein or HSP70-peptide vaccines serve as multivalent or individual vaccines for caner therapy. The HSP70-based DNA vaccines which are fused with DNA of HSP70 and tumor proteins against syngeneic tumors are under investigated for a long times [112-115]. Although HSP70 genes form tumors and normal tissues reveal no differences in the amino acide sequences. Interestingly, HSP70 derived form normal tissue do not elicit immune responses against tumors [112]. The novelty in this study is that we use chicken HSP70 DNA "alone" as vaccines to immunize canine. There is 83.5% high degree of homology between chicken and canine HSP70. The small differences in amino acid sequence are supposed to break tumor tolerance and elicit the cross-react immune responses to canine HSP70 proteins.

1.5 The strategies to break tumor tolerance

Despite the mechanisms by which tumor can evade the immune system, numbers of strategies to enhance antitumor immunity to break tumor tolerance are under investigated as following:

1.5.1 Tumor antigens overexpression

The overexpression of proteins in tumor cells may increase the self peptides presented by MHC molecules, therefore overcoming the tumor tolerance and activating of T lymphocytes [11]. When mice immunized with PSA DNA plasmid, the strong humoral and cellular immunity were induced and the immune responses were found to be skewed toward Th1 by high levels of IFN- γ and IL-2 production. The inducing immune

response was sufficient to protect mice from challenge with PSA-expressing tumor cells. In addition, plasmid PSA vaccination inducing PSA-specific antibody titers in cynomolus monkeys which expressing a closely related genes with the humans [116]. The results indicate the TAA plasmid DNA vaccination can break tolerance.

1.5.2 Difference in HLA molecules needed to present shared antigens

The graft-versus-leukemia (GVL) effect is important for eradication of the malignant cells. In leukemia patients, administration of alloreactive T cells with hematopoietic stem cell transplants cause eradication of the tumors [117, 118]. It shows that the immunomodulation is possible in acute myeloid leukemia [119]. To berak self-tolerance, allorestricted CTL against self-antigens such as CD19, CD20, CD33 and CD45 were generated [120, 121]. The strategy with the disparity in HLA molecules to present the shared antigens rather than relying on a difference in antigen expression between host and donor.

1.5.3 Inhibition of immunosuppressive mechanisms

The tumor-derived suppressive cytokines such as IL-10 and TGF- β were neutralized with antibodies for caner therapy [122, 123]. Treg cells, which play an essential role in mantaining peripheral tolerance and induce apoptosis of APCs or inhibit their activation and function by TGF- β , IL-10, perform and granzyme [3, 11, 124]. Therefore, depleteion of Treg cells as a strategy to augment the potential of immunotherapy and have been found to cause tumor regression [125-128].

1.5.4. Co-encapsulation of dual siRNAs and tumour antigens

Indoleamine 2, 3-dioxygenase (IDO), an enzyme that degrades tryptophan, is a negative immune regulatory molecule to DCs. IDO-expressing DCs suppress T cell responses and are in the immunosuppressive condition. Tryptopan catabolism also affects naïve T cells proliferation and memory CD8⁺ T cells generation [129]. IDO also plays an

important role in immune escape in cancer development [130-132]. Therefore, silencing the IDO expression in DCs served as a new method to elicit antitumor immunity [11, 133]. RNA interference (RNAi) was used as a cellular gene silencing mechanism that can be applied to the development of new drugs [134]. Small interfering RNA (siRNA), the main effector of RNAi, is thought to be one of the promising anticancer tools [135]. Besides, siRNA can be used alone or combined with other immunotherapies [136]. Knockdown the expression of the pathological proteins such as IDO through the RNAi is applicable to all classes of molecular targets. The resent research indicated administration of IDO siRNA to skin can inhibit tumor growth and increase the survival time in murine models. Besides, the antitumor effect is abolished by depletion of CD8⁺ T cells [133]. With the same concept, genes of TAAs may serve as ideal targets with for cancer therapies.

1.5.5 Xenogeneic antigens

Nowadays, almost all of identified tumor antigens are also expressed in normal cells and are not altered self antigens [137-139]. Thus it is essential to break tolerance for cancer therapy. Using the "altered self" form of self antigens to overcome tumor tolerance arise from the studies of SK-MEL19, a gp75⁺ human melanoma cell line [140]. When mice were immunized with "human" melanoma lysates, autoantibodies that recognized "mouse" gp75 were produced. In contrast, immunization with murine B16 melanoma produced no antibody response, even when potent adjuvants were included.

The concept of xenogeneic DNA vaccine is the minor differences in epitopes of homologous xenogeneic protein between species improving the recognition of the MHC class I or II restricated peptide on transfected cells to TCR and then generating the cross-reactive immune responses against self proteins on tumors [137, 141-147]. However, the precise mechanisms that overcome immune tolerance are not completely understood [148]. The xenogeneic DNA vaccines are extensively investigated in preclinical models, especially in melanoma. The B57BL/6J mice are immunized five times with humn gp75 DNA plamid by gene gun delivery. Almost all mice immunized with human gp75 develop autoantibody to syngeneic gp75 (69 of 71 mice). No autoantibodies are detected in mice immunized with mice gp75 (0 of 39 mice). The autoantibodies aginst mice gp75 are weakly after the third vaccinations but peaked after the fourth and fifth vaccinations. Autoimmunity was also characterized by coat depigmentation. In addition, depletion of CD4⁺ or NK1.1⁺ cells but not CD8⁺ cells can partically reversed the rejection of the lung metastases in immunized mice. This indicates CD4⁺ or NK1.1⁺ cells played critical roles in antitumor activity in melanoma model [147]. In other studies, mice are immunized with xenegeneic human gp100 DNA showed CD4 independent T cell antitumor immunity [146].

1.6 The delivery system for DNA vaccines

Gene therapy was transferring genetic material into the cells to prevent or treat diseases. The introduction of exogeneous DNA into cells or tissue can be carried out through various viral vectors and non-viral approaches.

1.6.1 Viral vector

A large of different recombinant viral vectors system had been evaluated in preclinical models. Administeration of recombinant viruses not only induces immune responses against proteins of transgene itself but also the viral vector proteins. Besides, pre-existing T cells and antibody-mediated immunity to the viral vector can negative influence in the administration of recombinant viruses or to boost [149]. Thus, pre-existing vector immunity must to be avoided in using viral vector that humans have not been exposed to the viruses before. Repeat immunization with the same virus vectors can also lead to the induction of vector immunity. Because of the previously mentioned

problems, only a small proportion of DNA vaccines via virus vectors have been evaluated in clinical studies [150-152].

1.6.2 Non-viral vector

Although the virus vectors have been extensively explored to vaccines delivery, they have many side effects such as host immune rejection, viral toxicity, high risk of insertional mutagenesis and so on [153-155]. Studies showed the adenoviral capsid proteins stimulated the innate immunity led to the inflammation and substantial loss of vector DNA in the first 24 hours [156]. For these reasons, non-viral vectors gene delivery has been recently become an attractive alternative method. To develop a successful protein therapy, effective DNA delivery is required to induce high and substantial level of protein production and long-lasting immune responses. The non-viral vectors are divided into two categories. One is the chemical methods. Cationic lipids and polymers such as liposomes have been extensively ecplored as a vehicle for gene therapy. Liposomes have been used to protect DNA from degradation, enhance the entrance of the plasma membranes and improve the uptake by APCs. Cationic polymeric materials such as polylysine and polyethyleneimine (PEI) have been shown to compact the DNA and form nanoparticulate complex, which can very in large and size thus they are suitable for both systemic and mucosal delivery. PEI also has enhanced ability to condense DNA to small particles and enter the cells by the adsorptive endocytosis [157]. The others are mechanical methods such as jet injection, electroporation, gene guns. The method of gene gun delivery involves coating micrometer sized colloidal gold particles with plasmid and propelled the beads into the epidermis or the dermis in the skin using the compressed helium. Less of the DNA is required for immunization with gene gun. There have been a number of reports of gene gun delivery in non-rodent system including cats, chickens, pigs, sheep, horse, cattle, dogs, non-human primates and humans [158-164].

Electroporation and jet injection are chosen to use in this study. The detail mechanisms are described as following.

1.6.2.1 Electroporation

Electroporation is a mean that cause cellular membrane are transiently destabilized by localized cotrolled electric fields, facilitating the entry of foreign molecules into cells [165-168]. The delivery of plasmid DNA with electroporation is dramatically elvated the transfection efficiency in muscle tissue rangeing from 10 to 1000-fold [169-171]. Electroporation has been used for nucleic acids transferation from 1980s [165, 166]. This technique has been applied to a wide variety of tissues, including muscle [172, 173], skin [174, 175], liver [176, 177], lung [178], artery [179], kidney [180], brain [181, 182] and tumors [183, 184]. The actural mechanism that nucleic acids transferation via electroporation has not been elucidated. However, the hypothesis that the permeability results from the formation of hydrophilic pores was proposed. During the electroporation, the cells act like a capacitor and may be a dielectric consisting of non-conducting material (the bilayer membrane) between two conductors (the extracellular fluid and cytoplasm of the cells). In the presence of an external applied electric field, a transmembeane potential could be created. Once the potential has been achieved the membrane discharges, the membrane could be porated and the extracellular materials moved into the cells. This critical potential is the minimum voltage that was required to aid the nucleic acids into the cells. This is so-called "reversible electrical breakdown" because the membrane pores will immedicately reseal in several milliseconds [165, 185]. After the formation of the membrane pores, there is tremendous influx of the extracellular DNA into the cells. Although the casue of the molecular movement is unclear [165]. There are two hypothesis related with the DNA movement. First, the electrical current acts on the nucleic acids by electrophoretic-like effect and the nucleic acids move across

the cell membranes [165, 186]. Second, the research demostrate that the short duration high voltage (HV) pulses promote the formation of membrane pores. On the contrary, the long duration low voltage (LV) pulses promote the movement of DNA into the cells. Further experiment demonstrate that only in the combination with HV and LV can achieve the highest transfection efficiency [187]. The successful electroporation required both the steps of " poration formation on transmembrane" and "electrophoresis effect for DNA movement into cells".

There sre several factors can increase the efficiency of electroporation. **1. The size**, **shape and morphology of the transfected cells :** these affect the voltage required to porate the membrane. Studies demonstrate the relationship between the transmembrane

potential (ΔVm) and the cell redius as $\Delta Vm = \delta E_{ext} rcos \phi$, where r=cell redius, ϕ = the



polar angle with the applied electrical field. The E_{ext} stands for the applied electric field. It indicate the larger of the size of the cells, the lower the field the strength that is required for portion [188]. **2.** The viscosity of extracellular fluid: the extracellular fluid affects the efficiency of electroporation. Studies demostarte that injection the hyaluronidase into the muscle before the electroporation led to the dramatical elevation the muscle fiber transduction [189]. **3.** The divalent cations: If the divalent cations are present in the culture medium, the electroporation efficiency is increased, probably because they abolish the electrostatic repulsion which was existed between in the DNA and cell membrane [188]. **4.** Adjuvant: the adjuvant such as poly-L-glutamine increase the electroporation efficiency in muscle tissues [190, 191]. Besides, it also thought to prevent degradation of the plasmid by endonucleases for further increase the DNA into

the cells.

Skeletal muscle has the properties that make it as the most suitable for the gene therapy. They are easily accessible, well-vaucularized and have large mass throughout the bodies. These properties of skeletal muscle result in systemic delivery of proteins in animal models. Besides, in tissue where undergoes the more cell division results in the more loss of the plasmid DNA from the cells. The post-mitotic nature of muscle fibers prevent the plasmid DNA from rapid loss, therefore it can provide a long-term source of proteins production. The electroporation of skeletal muscle are applied to human clinical trials, for instance, delivery of vascular endotheial growth factor into the patients with severe limb ischemia [192]. The other clinical trials such as melanoma with cytokine genes are and prostate caner therapy with PSA genes are now onging [193, 194].

1.6.2.2 Needle-free injection

Jet injection is a needle-free delivery system method with a high-speed stream of fluid through the skin and delivers the drugs intradermally, subcutaneously or even intramuscularly without using of needles [195-197]. They have been used to deliver numbers of marcromolecules as well as the small molecules such as imsulin, anesthetics and DNA molecules [198].

The skin divides into two layers, the epidermis and dermis. The epidermis served as a barrier to prevent the external pathogens from entering the body. It is the first line of immune surveillance. The dermis is resbonsible for blood supply to the epidermis and immune surveillance. There are numerous resident APCs populated in the epidermis and dermis: the Langerhans cells (LCs) in the viable epidermis and the dermal dendrocytes (DCs) in the dermis [199, 200]. The protein expressions are observed from transfected cells such as keratinocytes, LCs and DCs. The majority of transfections are presumably through endocytosis or some other undefined mechanism [200]. Nowadays, needle-free

plasmid delivery had been preious demestrated in many species including mice [201], guinea pigs [202], rabbit [203], sheep and cattle [204], canine and humans [141].

Transdermal needle-free (TD NF) plasmid delivery transfers the plasmid DNA into both the dermis and muscle. The safety and efficiency of TD NF are demostrated in veterinary species. The advantages of TD NF are the overall procedure is easily accessible to the clinicians. Besides, the less DNA amounts are required because there are substancial DCs populated in the dermis [200]. Clinical studies indicate the responders with TD NF delivery have the better mean antibody reponses than the delivery with needles [205]. The superiority of TD NF plasmid delivery are under investigated that its potential to elicit more interferon-gamma (IFN- γ) than intramuscular or interdermal administration with xenogeneic DNA vaccine in beagles. However, the humoral response are failed to be detected [206]. Although the jet injection has less efficiency compared to gen gun and electroporation. The jet injection is thought to be a critical and potential technology for cancer therapy and chronic infection diseases no matter in companion animals or in humans [167, 205, 206].

1.7 Current progresses of xenogeneic DNA vaccine in treating cancers in canine and humans

Human vascular endothelial growth factor plasmid DNA was used to treat the canine soft tissue scrcoma. Autoantibies were found in two of the three patients receiving all the six times vaccination procedure. The decrease of tumor microvessel density and the phenomenon of IgG deposition in tumor site were also detected and no adverse effects such as coagulopathty [144].

In phase I trial of canine malignant melanoma (CMM) was conducted in 2003, three cohort of CMM dogs (WTO stage II, III and IV) were immunized with human tyrosinase four times biweekly by Biojetor 2000. No signs of autoimmunity were found. One dog

with stage IV disease had a complete clinical response in multiple lung metastases for 329 days. Two dogs with stage IV disease had a long-term survivals (421 and 588 days) in the face of metastatic disease, and two other dogs with locally control stage II/III disease had long term survivals (501 and 496 days) with no evidence of melanoma on necropsy. The Kaplan-Meier median survival time (KM MST) for all nine dogs was 389 days compared with CMM dogs without local tumor control had survival time ranging from 54 to 126 days [207].

CMM dogs with stage II to IV disease were immunized with human tyrosinase four times biweekly by Biojetor 2000 in 2006. The KM MST for all stage II-IV dogs treated with human tyrosinase, mouse tyrosinase and mouse gp75 were 389, 224 and 153 days compare with the standardized therapies 1 to 5 months. Autoantibodies were found 2 to 5 times increasion compared with the pre-immune sera in 3 out of 9 immunized dogs [145]. Another thirty-three CMM dogs fit the stage II to III disease with local reginally controlled CMM across the xenogeneic vaccine studies. The KM MST for these dogs was 569 days in 25 out of 33 dogs which were still alive [145]. Meanwhile, allogeneic whole-cell CMM tumor vaccine expressing human xenegeneic gp100 was developed to treat stage II to IV CMM dogs at the same year. Objective evidence of tumor regression (one complete response and five partial responses) was observed in six of the thirty-four dogs (17.6% objective response rate). The overall survival times for complete or partial regression dogs in this study were 417 days compared with the 153 days in all dogs. The PBMC cytotoxicity towards autologous tumor targets was found in 8 of the 12 dogs. Also, anti-human gp100 antibodies were elicited in the 9 of the 16 tested dogs. However, this not correlated with the clinical responses [208].

Because there are many the sucessful studies in developing the xenogeneic DNA vaccine in experiment mice models and large animals. The first of human clinical tiral

have been tested in the 2007. In phase I of clinical trial, human and mouse tyrosinase DNA were vaccinated in stage III/IV melanoma patients. Eighteen human leukocyte antigen (HLA)-A*0201⁺ melanoma patients were randomized as follows : one group received three vaccination of mouse tyrosinase DNA injections followed by three human tyrosinase DNA injection ; other group received the same vaccines in the opposite sequence. The study was conducted at three dosage level : 100, 500 and 1500µg DNA injection administered intramuscularly with Biojector every three weeks. No toxicity was found in immunized patients. There was found no relationship with the does, assigned schedule and T cell response. In the tetramer assay, the peak response was found to be 2.5 -fold to 8.6-fold greater than the respective pre-treatment values, while the intrcellular IFN- γ staining was 2.1-fold to 4.5-fold increase. The phenotype of responding CD8⁺ T cells from two of tetramer positive patients were CD45RO^{high} and CD62L^{high} indicating a central memory phenotype. The phenotype of responding CD8⁺ T cells from another of tetramer positive patients showed the CD62^{low} population indicating the effector memory phenotype. No immunoglobulin G antibodies against tyrosinase were detected in pre- or post-vaccination sera. Although at a median of 42 months follow-up, median survival has nor been reached, the mouse and human tyrosinase DNA vaccines were found safe and induced CD8⁺ T cell response in 7 of 18 patients [141]. In 2009, the mouse and human gp100 DNA were immunized melanoma patients with the same strategy. However, the similar results were found with the previuos research [209].

1.8 Canine transmissible venereal tumor (CTVT) model and vaccine development

Canine transmissible venereal tumor (CTVT) is a naturally occurring contagious round cell neoplasm which are located mainly on the external genitalia and are transmitted by the transplantation of viable tumor cells with such behaviors like social smelling and licking [210, 211]. CTVT consists of solitary or multiple tumor cell nodules divided by fine connective tissues into small islets. CTVT cells are round to ovid in shape with a large nucleolus and prominent vacuolated cytoplasma [212]. It is histiocytic origin and can be transplanted as an allograft with intact viable cells across MHC barriers within the canine population [210, 212-215]. A transposable elements sequence that is a long interspersed nuclear element insertion near the c-myc can be used as a specific maker to diagonose the CTVT [216, 217].

In experimental CTVT-bearing dogs, CTVT cells are progressive growth (P phase) for three to five months, and then stable growth (S phase) for two to thress weeks, finally are spontaneously regressed (SR phase) in four to eight weeks [218]. During the P phase, CTVT dogs show signs of severely suppressed immune responses, much like those observed in humans with malignant tumors [219]. There are several mechanisms that CTVT invade and suppress the immune surveilance. On the one hand, the extremely low expression of MHC class I molecules on the CTVT cells during the P phase [220, 221]. On the other hand, high concentration of CTVT-derived TGF- β at P phase suppresses the immune activities of DCs and NK cells to create an immune tolerance microenvironment [222-224]. At SR phase, a large number of tumor infiltrating lymphocytes (TILs) secrete IL-6, which antagonizes the suppressive effects of TGF- β and may work synergistically with MHC stimulating factor IFN-y to promote the MHC molecules expression and restores the NK cells cytotoxicity [224, 225]. Besides, the dogs are genetically and physiologically much more related to human [226]. CTVT is considered an ideal large animal model to study host/cancer interaction and preclinical cancer immunotherapy [227, 228]. Electroporation-meiated human IL-12 gene therapy has been demonstrated successfully in treating CTVT. The gene therapy attracted significantly more CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ TILs. It offers more clinical relevance is required for evulating human cancer immunotherapy [228].

Up to date, there is only one research about CTVT and HSP expression. The expressions of HSP60, HSP70 and HSP90 are investigated in CTVT at P phase and SR phase. Immunohistochemistry staining indiacate that HSP60 and HSP90 are found aggregated or granulated in the cytoplasma in CTVT, whereas HSP70 are dispersed in the cytoplasma. The expressions of HSP60 at SR phase are significantly higher than P phase and serve as maker for SR phase of CTVT. However, the serological experiments show that there are no anti-HSP antibodies found in the serum although the detection of HSP expression at both P and SR phase [81]. Their chaperone function may play an important role in presenting the CTVT antigens to break the tolerance and led to tumor regression. However, the relationship between HSP70 and CTVT need to further investigated.

1.9 Objectives of this study

(a) Design three kinds of chicken HSP70 DNA vaccination schedules and find out the best one in CTVT model.

(b) Prove the protective or inhibitory effect of chicken HSP70 DNA vaccine by immunological experiments.

Chapter 2. Introduction

The immune system guards the host against pathogenic attacks by microorganisms and other foreign/non-self particles; it does not react against cells expressing self-antigens due to negative and positive selection during the development of immature lymphocytes [11]. Tumors usually arise from one's own tissue (self), and almost all of the tumor antigens characterized to date are unmutated self-antigens [137]. It has previously been supposed that self-antigens on tumor cells do not elicit immune responses or activate lymphocytes against themselves; however, recent studies have demonstrated that immunity to self-antigens on tumor cells does exist, and is merely constrained by tumor tolerance [116]. Therefore, the development of a method by which tumor tolerance can be overcome may present a potential cancer treatment.

In fact, several studies in preclinical animal models have indicated that tumor tolerance to self-antigens can be overcome by immunization with a xenogeneic DNA vaccine, the mechanism of which involves improvement of T cell recognition, NK cell activation and autoantibody production [143, 229]. In addition, tiny discrepancies in epitopes of homologous xenogeneic proteins between two species are sufficient to activate self-reactive CD4⁺ or CD8⁺ T lymphocytes and generate self-reactive antibodies [143]. DNA vaccines have many advantages over conventional vaccines such as attenuated live or killed pathogens, including induction of a long-term immune response, a higher stability, and a simple method of preparation in large quantities [230].

Heat shock protein 70 (HSP70) is a member of a family of highly-conserved molecules that maintain the function of crucial cellular pathways during stress [231], and

performs a variety of chaperoning functions depending on its subcellular location [74, 232]. Intracellular HSP70 serves as a powerful anti-apoptotic protein and protects cells from lethal threats. Overexpression of HSP70 has been observed in various tumors including breast cancer, endometrial cancer, lung cancer, prostate cancer and other types of cancer [78]. The expression level of HSP70 is known to be correlated with cell proliferation, lymph node metastasis, poor response to chemotherapy and poor survival [79, 99]. Apart from intracellular locations, HSP70 has also been found on the cell membrane of malignantly-transformed cells, on virally-/bacterially-infected cells, and in the extracellular space [74], and extracellular or membrane-bound HSP70 can elicit an immune response either by adaptive or innate immunity [74]. In recent years, tumor-derived HSP70-peptide vaccines have served as multivalent or individual vaccines [77], and the use of HSP70-based DNA vaccines fused with DNA tumor proteins against syngeneic tumors is under investigation by several research groups [114].

Canine transmissible venereal tumor (CTVT) is a naturally-occurring contagious round-cell neoplasm of possible histiocytic origin and is transmitted across the major histocompatibility complex (MHC) barriers within the canine population by the transplantation of viable tumor cells [210, 211]. CTVT overexpresses HSP70 (caHSP70) molecules [81]. Experimentally-transplanted CTVT in dogs exhibits a predictable growth pattern that includes progressive (P), stable (S) and spontaneous regression (SR) phases [218]. During the P phase, the CTVT employs several mechanisms to suppress immune surveillance, including the extremely low expression of MHC class I molecules on CTVT cells to avoid immune system recognition [220, 221] and the high concentration of CTVT-derived TGF- β to suppress immune activities such as those of dendritic cells (DCs) and NK cells. Via these mechanisms, the CTVT creates an immune tolerance microenvironment suitable for its growth [222, 224]. During the SR phase, tumor-infiltrating lymphocytes (TILs) secrete IL-6, which antagonizes the suppressive effects of TGF- β and works synergistically with MHC-stimulating factor IFN- γ to promote MHC molecule expression and restore the cytotoxicity of NK cells. It is believed that CTVT is an ideal large animal model for the study of host/cancer interaction and preclinical cancer immunotherapy [227, 228].

In this study, we administered prophylactic (G1 and G3) and treatment vaccination (G2) programs in CTVT-bearing dogs using xenogeneic DNA plasmid-encoded chicken HSP70 (*chHSP70*). The novelty of this study was the employment of *chHSP70* DNA itself as a vaccine, rather than the commonly-used HSP70–peptide complex vaccine in which HSP acts as the chaperone to carry cancer antigen peptides [77, 114]. Our results suggested that the group 1 (G1) vaccination strategy, which consisted of 2 consecutive vaccinations followed by intramuscular (IM) injection/electroporation prior to tumor inoculation, induced the best autoimmune response against caHSP70 and activated the tumor regression process much earlier than in the spontaneous case. The G1 program most effectively inhibited tumor growth among the 3 programs, and T-cell cytotoxicity and immune responses related to IFN- γ production were significantly enhanced. It is believed that the autoimmunity induced by the *HSP70* DNA vaccine could be useful in suppressing the growth of HSP70-producing tumors.

Chapter 3. Material & Method

3.1 Chicken HSP70 xenogeneic DNA vaccine

Both the vector pCG073 and empty vector pLL14 plasmids used in this study were provided by Merial S.A.S. The 1908 nucleotides of the synthetic gene *chHSP70* (Swissprot accession: P08106, GenBank accession: J02579) were assembled from synthetic oligonucleotides (GENEART, US). To construct the *chHSP70* DNA plasmid, designated pCG073, a fragment of synthetic *chHSP70* was subcloned into pLL14-expressing vector using EcoRV and Xbal restriation sites. The final construct was verified by sequencing, and the sequence congruence was 100%. A plasmid map of pCG073 is shown in Fig. 1. Empty vector pLL14 was used as the control vector in this study. The alignment of amino acids demonstrated an 83.5% homology between caHSP70 and chHSP70 (Fig. 2).

3.2 Animals and vaccination schedules

A total of nineteen adult beagles were used in this study. All of the animal experiments were performed in compliance with standard operating procedures issued by the Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee of National Taiwan University. The vaccination procedures were as shown in the diagram of Fig. 3. Twelve dogs were evenly divided into three vaccination groups (G1, G2 and G3); each group also contained one additional dog injected with empty vector as a vector control (G1-c, G2-c and G3-c). Four CTVT-bearing dogs that were not administered any treatment served as non-treatment controls (NT). The aim of the group 1 (G1) experiment was to evaluate the efficiency of the xenogeneic *chHSP70* DNA vaccine in preventing CTVT, and the

treatment protocol consisted of two transdermal vaccinations (two weeks apart) prior to CTVT inoculation and one vaccination followed by electroporation three weeks after inoculation. The aim of the group 2 (G2) study was to evaluate the therapeutic efficiency of the xenogeneic chHSP70 DNA vaccine on CTVT in the growth stage: G2 dogs were immunized with the vaccine three times, in the first, second and fifth week after CTVT inoculation. The vaccination schedule of the G3 dogs was essentially the same as that of G1, with the exception that the third vaccination followed by electroporation was replaced with vaccination using a transdermal needle-free (TD NF) delivery system. The vaccine dosage was 400µg/ml of chHSP70 DNA and was administered in the upper part of the left hind leg using Vitajet3, a transdermal needle-free delivery system (Merial S.A.S., France). A total dosage of 800µg/ml of the chHSP70 DNA vaccination followed by electroporation was administered intramuscularly to the right and left semitendinosus muscles, and electroporation was then performed three weeks (W3) after CTVT inoculation. pCG073 and empty vector pLL14 were delivered via the intramuscular injector, followed by a prototype Sphergen generator (reference G-150; Sphergen, France), the voltage and electric field settings of which were adjusted to 87.5V and 175V/cm, with a frequency of 10Hz, a pulse duration of 20ms, and interpulse intervals of 80ms within one second.

3.3 Sample collection

Details of all samples taken and collection schedules in the experimental groups are presented in Table 1. Peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMCs) were collected from all dogs prior to experiment to obtain baseline data. PBMCs, tumor cells and TILs were collected from the dogs five weeks (W5, as P phase) after CTVT inoculation, and then when the CTVT begun to regresses (R) after vaccination or entered the SR phase for further immunological experiments. The P phase was defined as a progressive increase in the average volume of the tumors. When more than half of the tumors in a dog had become smaller in volume, and the average volume of all tumors in the dog had also decreased, the tumor was defined as being in the R phase of tumor suppression in the vaccinated groups or in the spontaneous regression (SR) phase in non-treated animals. To evaluate the vaccine toxicity, canine peripheral blood was collected from G1 and G3 dogs for clinical chemical analysis studies 4 weeks before vaccination (-W4), at CTVT inoculation (W0), at the third vaccination (3 weeks after tumor inoculation, W3), at W5, and upon entering the R phase, while for G2 dogs, blood samples were collected before vaccination (W0) then at W1, W2, W5, and upon entering the R phase. In NT dogs, blood samples were collected at week 0 (W0), W1, W2, W3, W5, and on entering the SR phase after CTVT inoculation.

3.4 CTVT inoculation

Freshly-collected viable tumor cells obtained from beagles during progressive tumor growth were used for experimental transplantation. Ten million tumor cells suspended in Hanks' balanced salt solution was inoculated subcutaneously at eight sites were evenly devided on the each of left and right lateral back of the beagles. All procedures were performed under general anesthesia with isoflurane. Tumor volumes were measured every week with calipers and calculated by a formula: $\pi \times$ length \times width \times thickness/4 (cm³).

3.5 Peripheral blood mononuclear cell preparation

PBMCs were isolated using the Ficoll-Hypaque method (density: 1.077; GE Healthcare Bio-Sciences, Uppsala, Sweden) at different time points. A 4ml blood sample was layered over 3ml of Ficoll gradient and centrifuged at 4°C for 20min at $420 \times g$. After centrifugation, PBMCs deposited at the interface were harvested and washed three times with buffer (FAB; 1% bovine serum albumin and 0.2% sodium azide in
phosphate-buffered saline (PBS), pH 7.2) in preparation for further use.

3.6 CTVT samples and TILs isolation

One tumor mass was excised at each assigned time point, as mentioned above. For H&E and IHC staining, tumor masses were immersed in 10% neutral formalin solution for 24h then embedded in paraffin, and 4- μ m sections were obtained for staining. To isolate TILs, the tumor mass was first minced in RPMI 1640 containing antibiotics and 10% fetal bovine serum (Gibco), and a single-cell suspension was then obtained as described previously by mechanically crushing the minced tumor mass with the aid of a stainless steel mesh and passing it through a 3-layer metal filter (pore size: 190 μ m) [222, 233]. The cell suspension was layered on 42% PercollTM (Pharmacia Biotech, USA) gradient and centrifuged at 4°C for 25min at 800×g, after which TILs that lay on the bottom were harvested and treated with 10ml ACK buffer for 10min at room temperature to avoid contamination with red blood cells. Isolated TILs were subsequently washed three times with staining buffer for flow cytometry studies.

3.7 Flow cytometry analysis

TILs (2×10^5) were incubated with specific mouse monoclonal antibodies against canine CD4 or CD8 (Serotec, UK) for 30 min at 4 °C as previously described [233]. Mouse IgG1 and IgG2a were used as isotype control (Serotec, UK). Cells were then washed and incubated with FITC-conjugated goat (Fab')² anti-mouse IgG (Serotec, UK) as secondary antibody for 30 min. Finally, all cells were suspended in staining buffer (0.1% sodium azide, 2% fetal bovine serum in PBS) containing 5 mg/ml propidium iodide (Sigma, St Louis, USA). The surface immunofluorescence viable cells were measured with a FACScaliber flow cytometer (Becton Dickinson, Mountain View, CA, USA). Fluorescence intensities were analyzed with Cell Quest Software (Becton

Dickinson).

3.8 Immunohistochemical staining

A super-sensitive non-biotin horseradish peroxidase detection system (BioGenex Laboratories, San Ramon, CA) was used to detect CD3 T lymphocytes in tumor sections, as described previously [224]. Briefly, series paraffin sections (4-µm-thick) were deparaffinized with xylene for 15min and dehydrated in a graded ethanol series. The sections were then placed in TrilogyTM solution (CellMarque, Hot Springs, AR) and heated at 121°C for 15min in an SA-252F autoclave (Sturdy Industrial, Taipei, Taiwan) for antigen retrieval, followed by immediate transfer to TrilogyTM solution and incubation at 80°C for 10min. A 400x-diluted antibody against CD3 (DakoCytomation, Carpinteria, CA) was applied for 24h at 4°C, followed by Super EnhancerTM (BioGenex, San Ramon, CA) treatment for a further hour at room temperature. Tris-buffered saline (TBS; DakoCytomation, Carpinteria, CA) was used to wash the slides following each staining step. Slides were treated with the substrate, diaminobenzidine tetrahydrochloride (BioGenex, San Ramon, CA), for 1min and then counterstained with hematoxylin (Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, MO, USA) for 10min. Rabbit normal serum (Biogenex, San Ramon, CA) replaced CD3 antibody in the same protocol as a negative control. CD3 positive staining of TILs in tumors was evaluated by manual counting; the density was quantified from fifteen randomly-chosen high-power microscopic fields (HPFs, 400x), and the mean TIL value was calculated. The results were analyzed using two-tailed Student's *t*-test.

3.9 CTVT specific cytotoxicity assay

Effector (E) cells were developed by co-culturing PBMCs $(3.2 \times 10^6 \text{cells/ml})$ with 15µg/ml mytomycin-C-treated CTVT cells (8×10⁵ cells/ml) for 6 days in 24-well plates according to a previously-described procedure [224]. Following washing thrice with PBS,

2×10³ CTVT cells (Target (T) cells) in 50µL medium were placed in 96-well U-bottom plates with effector cells at various E:T ratios (50:1, 25:1, 12.5:1, and 6.25:1) and incubated at 37°C for 6h. After incubation, the supernatants were collected and the cytotoxicity of the effector cells towards CTVT was measured using the CytoTox 96[®] Non-Radioactive Cytotoxicity Assay (Promega, USA) as the manufacturer's instructions. Lactic dehydrogenase (LDH) production in the cultured medium was measured at an absorbance of 490nm. Percent cytotoxicity was calculated as (Experimental–Effector Spontaneous–Target Spontaneous)/(Target Maximum–Target Spontaneous)×100%. A baseline CTL assay was performed following the same procedure: PBMCs collected at baseline were used as effector cells, and CTVT cells at W5 were used as target cells.

3.10 IFN-y secreting and HSP70 specific lymphocytes detection

To evaluate the specific activity against chHSP70 and canine HSP70 (caHSP70) molecules, the HSP70-specific IFN- γ production capacity of PBMCs was evaluated using a canine IFN- γ ELISPOT kit (R&D, USA) in nitrocellulose-lined 96-well microplates (Millipore MAHAS45) according to previously-described procedures [227]. Briefly, 50µg/ml CTVT cell lysates and 1µg/ml chHSP70 or caHSP70 peptide pools were mixed with 1x10⁵ CTVT-activated PBMCs (effector cells) and incubated at 37°C for 24h. Each peptide pool was composed of a combination of individual peptides of 15-mers overlapping by 10 amino acids. All C-ter positions were kept unblocked, and when applicable, glutamine in the N-ter position was systematically replaced by the previous amino acid. PBMCs isolated from healthy beagles were treated with conanavalin A (Sigma, St Louis, USA) and used as positive controls. Biotinylated polyclonal antibodies against canine IFN- γ were added and the mixture incubated at 4°C for 24h, followed by incubation with Streptavidin-AP and development in substrate BCIP/NBT Chromogen.

ELISpot assays were performed following the same procedure: similarly, PBMCs at baseline were used as effector cells, and CTVT cells at W5 were used as target cells.

3.11 NK cytotoxicity assay

Canine thyroid adenocarcinoma cells (CTACs) purchased from the European Collection of Cell Cultures (Salisbury, England) were used as target cells (T) for canine NK cytotoxicity assay, which was performed following previously-described procedures [227]. Two-thousand CTACs per 50µl medium were placed in 96-well U-bottom microtiter plates and incubated at 37°C overnight, and PBMCs (effector cells, E) obtained from vaccinated beagles were co-cultured with CTACs at various E:T ratios (50:1, 25:1, 12.5:1, and 6.25:1). NK cytotoxic activity was measured using the CytoTox 96[®] Non-Radioactive Cytotoxicity Assay (Promega, USA) as the manufacturer's instructions. LDH production in the culture medium was measured at an absorbance of 490nm. Percent cytotoxicity was calculated as (Experimental–Effector Spontaneous–Target Spontaneous)/(Target Maximum–Target Spontaneous)×100%. Baseline ELISpot assays were performed following the same procedure, using PBMCs collected at baseline as effector cells.

3.12 ELISA

Serum antibodies titer was analyzed by ELISA. The caHSP70 or *chHSP70* peptide pools were resuspended in PBS to a final concentration of 1mg/ml and incubated in each of the ELISA wells overnight at 4°C. Plates were then rinsed with washing buffer (0.45% NaCl in deionized water containing 0.05% Tween-20) and blocked with blocking buffer (5% bovine serum albumin in washing buffer) for 2h at 37°C. Serum samples were obtained from the NT group at baseline (W0) and from G1-c and G1 at baseline (-4W), CTVT inoculation (W0), after inoculation (W3, W5), and upon entering the R phase, and were diluted 10x in PBS. The diluted serum samples were then incubated in caHSP70- or chHSP70-peptide-coated wells for 2h at room temperature, followed after washing by further incubation with 2000x diluted rabbit anti-canine immunoglobulin-horseradish peroxidase conjugated in dilution buffer (ICN Biomedicals, Costa Mesa, CA). After extensive washing, the plates were developed with 3,3',5,5'-tetramethylbenzidine dihydrochloride (TMB, Clinical Science Products Inc., Mansfield MA, USA) substrate for 30min, and the reaction stopped with 1N HCl. Color development was quantified at 450nm.

3.13 Statistics

Data were presented as mean \pm SD and were analyzed using the two-tailed Student's *t*-test. The differences were considered statistically significant at *p*<0.05. Statistical analyses were performed using Prism 4.0 (GraphPad Software, Inc.).



Chapter 4. Results

4.1 Vaccinations followed by electroporation prior to tumor inoculation suppressed the tumor growth more efficiently.

In the G1 dogs (Fig. 4A), significant suppression of tumor growth began at W6 after tumor inoculation (p<0.01), and complete regression was achieved at W12, while the NT dogs did not exhibit any suppression of tumor growth until W11, and tumors remained large in size (127cm³) at the end of the experimental period (W18; 82cm³). Tumors of the G2 dogs (Fig. 4B) grew progressively and exhibited no regression until W17, while those of the G3 dogs (Fig. 4C) entered the regression phase at around W12. The G1 vaccination procedure itself was seen to somehow affect tumor growth, although data were only obtained from one dog (Fig. 4A): this was evidenced by the fact that the G1-c dog exhibited earlier regression than the NT dogs (W11 for G1-c vs. W14 for NT). The G2 tumors were smaller in size than those of the NT group at first (p<0.05); however, they began to grow progressively thereafter, and no size difference between G2 and NT tumors could be discerned by the end of the experiment.

Because the electroporation procedure required an anesthetic, to achieve better clinical applicability, the protocol for the third vaccination followed by electroporation used in the G1 dogs was replaced with a TD vaccination protocol in the G3 animals. The tumors of the vaccinated G3 dogs were smaller than those of the NT dogs; however, the tumors of the vector control animals (G3-c) were similar in size to those of the G3 dogs (Fig. 4C). The tumor growth curves for all experimental groups are shown in Fig. 4D: these data indicate that tumor growth was suppressed most effectively in the G1 dogs among the three tested groups, and vaccination of the dogs prior to tumor establishment

was the most effective protocol for the inhibition of tumor growth. In addition, vaccination followed by a single electroporation procedure resulted in the most effective suppression of tumor growth.

4.2 Infiltration of tumor masses by many T lymphocytes in G1 tumors began in P phase

After vaccination with *chHSP70* DNA, the tumors of the G1 animals (Fig. 5a) were infiltrated with lymphocytes in greater abundance than those in the other groups in this study (Fig. 5b to 5g). Many necrotic foci were also found in the G1 tumors (Fig. 5h).

To investigate the $CD4^+$ (Fig. 6A) and $CD8^+$ subpopulations (Fig. 6B) of TILs in the experimental groups, TILs purified from tumors of all groups were analyzed by flow cytometry. The percentages of both $CD4^+$ (Fig. 6Aa) and $CD8^+$ (Fig. 6Ba) TILs during progressive tumor growth were significantly higher in the G1 dogs than in the G1-c and NT control dogs (28.90% *vs.* 5.00% and 9.38% for CD4 and 22.45% *vs.* 1.49% and 3.10% for CD8, respectively). However, the percentages of CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ TILs in the G2 (18.22% for CD4 and 10.7% for CD8) and G3 dogs (17.87% for CD4 and 12.86% for CD8) were similar to those of the NT group (9.38% for CD4 and 3.10% for CD8). In suppressed tumors in the treated groups or spontaneously-regressed tumors in the controls, the percentage of CD4⁺ TILs in G1 dogs (56.77%) was also significantly higher than in G2 and NT dogs (G2: 27.90%, G3: 34.42%, NT: 22.74%) (Fig. 6Ab); however, the percentage of CD8⁺ TILs was similar in all groups (G1: 28.52%, G2:28.33%, G3: 22.47%, NT: 15.94%)(Fig. 6Bb).

Immunohistochemical staining showed that at W5, many CD3⁺ T lymphocytes had infiltrated the tumors in the G1 (Fig. 7a), G2 (Fig. 7b) and G3 dogs (Fig. 7c), while only small numbers were found scattered in the tumors of the empty vector (Fig. 7d, 7e and 7f) and NT controls (Fig. 7g). The serial sections shown in Fig. 7b were stained with normal

rabbit serum as a negative control (Fig. 7h). CD3 positive staining of TILs in P phase (Fig. 7Ba) and SR/R phase (Fig. 7Bb) tumors was evaluated by manual counting in fifteen randomly-chosen HPFs, and the number of CD3 positive lymphocytes infiltrating the G1 tumors was significantly higher than those infiltrating the G2, G3 and NT tumors during both the P phase and the SR/R phase.

These data imply that the vaccination program administered to the G1 dogs promoted more efficient infiltration of TILs, including CD4 and CD8 cells, which coincided with tumor growth inhibition; however, the difficulties in staining CD4 and CD8 surface markers using our tested antibodies prevented us from obtaining related results from tissue sections (Table 2).

4.3 Cytotoxicity toward CTVT was higher in G1 dogs.

We further sought to compare the tumor-specific cytotoxicity between the different vaccination groups. No differences in cytotoxicity were observed at baseline before vaccination between groups (Fig. 8A). However, the cytotoxicity of PBMCs from G1 and G3 dogs was significantly higher than that of the control groups during the P and R phases (Fig. 8B and 8C), and again, cytotoxicity was highest in the G1 dogs than in any other groups in both the P phase and the R phase.

4.4 Xenogeneic chHSP70 DNA vaccination induced caHSP70-specific Th1 response.

To further investigate whether administration of the xenogeneic *chHSP70* DNA vaccine elicited specific immune responses against caHSP70, canine and chicken HSP70-specific IFN- γ -producing cells were enumerated in PBMCs incubated with caHSP70 or chHSP70 peptides by ELISpot assay. No differences in the baseline data before vaccination were observed between groups (Fig. 9A). Generally, scores in the SR/R phase (Fig. 9C) were higher than those in the P phase (Fig. 9B), and in both the P and R phases, caHSP70, chHSP70, and tumor-specific IFN- γ -secreting cells were most

abundant in G1 among all groups. As the tumors regressed, the caHSP70 peptide-specific IFN- γ -secreting cells were present in significantly greater numbers in G3 as compared with G2 and NT dogs (Fig. 9C). Thus, prophylactic administration with one electroporation session induced the best reaction in terms of enhancing the canine HSP70-specific Th1 responses.

4.5 NK cytotoxicity may not contribution to the tumor inhibition.

T No differences in NK cytotoxicity before treatment were observed between groups (Fig. 10A). The NK cytotoxicity of the G1 dogs (P phase: 22.96% and R phase: 30.40% in a 50:1 E/T ratio) was slightly higher than that of the other groups at P phase (Fig. 10B) and upon entering the SR/R phase (Fig. 10C), but this was not statistically significant, which indicated that NK cells may not play a major role in tumor regression in this vaccination program.

4.6 Humoral response against canine and chHSP70 did not differ between groups.

To investigate the humoral response in *chHSP70* vaccination, antibodies against caHSP70 and chHSP70 after vaccination were evaluated by ELISA. The levels of both caHSP70 (Fig. 11A) and chHSP70 antibodies (Fig. 11B) were low in serum from immunized G1 dogs, and no significant variation was observed between samples collected at different time points among the groups. It was interesting to find that chHSP70 antibodies were present prior to treatment in the dogs, and the differences between the NT, G1-c and G1 dogs were significant (p<0.05) (Fig. 11C). The lack of antibody responses implied that humoral immunity did not make a sizable contribution to the inhibition of tumor growth under the *chHSP70* vaccination strategy.

4.7 The toxicity of chHSP70 vaccination.

Blood samples were collected from animals of all groups at different time points and processed in order to evaluate the chemical parameters of the vaccine by routine clinical chemical laboratory techniques using standard equipment (Table 3). The results from the NT, G1, G2 and G3 dogs were similar, and no detectable adverse effects, including inflammation at the injection site, were observed in any of the animals.



Chapter 5. Discussion

The importance of using "altered self-antigens" to overcome tumor tolerance was highlighted in studies using lysates of SK-MEL19, the gp75⁺ human melanoma cell line [140]. When mice were immunized with "human" melanoma lysates, autoantibodies were produced, which recognized "mouse" gp75, while immunization of mice with "mouse" B16 melanoma elicited no antibody response. The results of this and other studies support the idea that ignorance of or tolerance to self-antigens could be overcome by homologous xenogeneic proteins. Development of the xenogeneic DNA vaccine was based on the notion that small differences in epitopes of homologous xenogeneic proteins between two species improve the recognition of MHC class I or class II molecules on transfected cells by T cell receptors (TCRs), leading to the generation of cross-reactive responses towards homogeneous self-proteins and inducing autoimmune-like tumor rejection. The production of cross-reactive antibodies and Th1-associated cytokine IFN-y is also involved in this type of immunity [143, 145, 229]. CD4⁺ T cells and CD8⁺ cells have also been proven to play important roles in this kind of tumor rejection process in a mouse melanoma model [146, 147]. In addition, the efficacy of xenogeneic DNA vaccines other than HSPs for the treatment of human melanoma has also recently been tested in phase I clinical trials [141, 209].

In this study, we used chicken "xenogeneic" HSP70 DNA "alone", rather than as a tumor-derived HSP70–peptide complex, as a vaccine to elicit cross-species specific immune responses against tumor-associated HSP70 in dogs. The homology of this molecule in chickens and canines was 83.5% (Fig. 2), which is in accordance with the notion that small differences in amino acid sequences between species can overcome

immune tolerance and further elicit tumor immunity. The significant increase in caHSP70-specific IFN-y-producing cells in the G1 dogs proved that chHSP70 administration prior to tumor inoculation activated cross-reactive immune responses against self-antigens. The increase in the CD8 T-cell population in TILs began in the P phase in G1 dogs, and the enhanced cytotoxicity indicated that the vaccination program was effective in activating what was most likely MHC class I-dependent CD8 T-cell-associated immune responses and CTVT-specific cytotoxicity. Pre-vaccination of chHSP70, as was administered in the G1 animals, exhibited a high efficiency in suppressing tumor growth: this effect was dramatically decreased in the G2 dogs in which vaccination was initiated after the tumor had already become established in the tissue. with chHSP70 vaccination Together, prophylactic DNA plus IM vaccination/electroporation activated significant autoimmune responses, mainly cellular immunity against caHSP70, and initiated early regression of the tumor.

It is generally believed that the establishment of a tumor-favorable microenvironment is essential for progressive growth of the tumor [12], this microenvironment usually facilitating neovasculization, better nutrient access, and immunosuppression/tolerance [234]. Within the tumor microenvironment, accessory cells work through cell–cell contact and crosstalk between functional molecules to develop conditions suitable for the survival and propagation of tumor cells. Thus, once the tumor has built up its microenvironment, its foundation for survival in the tissue, it becomes more resistant to enhanced immune responses. This was the case in the tumors of the G2 dogs, which were vaccinated after the tumor had been allowed to grow for two weeks – these animals were more resistant to the enhanced immune responses elicited by the vaccination program than the G1 dogs, and therefore the G2 tumors grew continuously for a significantly longer period of time than those of the G1 animals before entering the

regression phase. In G1, the enhanced immune responses elicited by vaccination before tumor inoculation, i.e., before the establishment of a microenvironment favorable to the survival of cancer cells, began to exert an impact immediately upon inoculation. This impact was apparently potent in inhibiting tumor growth, and therefore prophylactic xenogeneic vaccination was found to be an important step in breaking the tumor tolerance. Further, it could be useful to decrease the size of the tumor before initiating a vaccination program in order to weaken the foundation of the tumor microenvironment – in other words, it is very important to set up an immune-enhancement program as early as possible.

Antitumor research has been focused on eliciting tumor-specific CD8⁺ CTL responses [235]; however, tumor immunity that is considered more akin to autoimmunity has previously been demonstrated to require the assistance of CD4⁺ T cells [147, 236]. In addition, CD4⁺ T cells are indispensable to the primary CTL response and facilitate the persistence of the CTL effector function [237-239]. More and more studies have suggested that Th1 CD4⁺ cells are capable of protecting experimental animals against tumors without the participation of a CD8⁺ population [240, 241], and some studies have shown that CD4⁺ cells can be more efficient at tumor rejection than CD8⁺ cells [242]. We found that in the early stage post-tumor inoculation of G1 dogs, both the CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ subpopulations were increased in TILs; however, only CD4⁺ cells significantly increased in number during tumor regression. Together, these results suggested that CD4⁺ cells play an important role in HSP70-associated immune suppressive responses.

For better clinical applicability of the xenogeneic *chHSP70* DNA vaccine, the third vaccination followed by electroporation was replaced with administration via the Vitajet3 system in the G3 dogs. Therefore, administration of this vaccine to tumor patients need not require anesthetization, which would be of particular benefit in patients with cancer

of an advance stage. However, a lesser protective effect and lower inhibition of tumor growth was observed in the G3 dogs treated with electroporation. In addition, although the PBMC cytotoxicity to CTVT was significantly greater in the G3 dogs as compared with the NT dogs, the CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ lymphocyte populations recruited to the tumor site were small, and were no different to those in the G2 and NT dogs, the 2 groups in which no inhibition of tumor growth was seen. The efficiency of various DNA delivery systems, including the gene gun (GG), intradermal injection (ID), and intramuscular injection with or without electroporation (IM+E or IM), against HER2/neu was investigated in mice [243], and IM+E was found to result in the best antitumor effect and generation of a Th1-type immune response. This Th1 immune response has also been observed in other studies in which vaccination was conducted via electroporation [244, 245], and accordingly, electroporation followed by IM vaccination was an important protocol to examine in our vaccination study. However, further study in a larger number of animals is necessary in order to confirm this conclusion.

The administration of a boost with syngeneic tumor antigen is important. In a murine melanoma model, xenogeneic human gp75 (hgp75) and syngeneic mouse gp75 (mgp75) DNA vaccines were administered to C57BL/6J mice [147], with the result that the tumor tolerance was broken in hgp75-immunized mice and autoantibodies against mgp75 were generated, further inhibiting distal lung metastases. Interestingly, the authors replaced the third vaccine in the hgp75 group with syngeneic mgp75 in the hgp75-immunized group, and immunoprecipitation analyses indicated that the injection of a boost of "syngeneic" gp75 augmented the immune response to mgp75 was not investigated in this study. In comparison with the G2 dogs, prophylactic administration of the *chHSP70* DNA vaccine in the G1 dogs caused potent immune responses that inhibited

tumor growth. CTVT inoculation following two *chHSP70* vaccinations may also act as a "syngeneic antigen boost" and provide the host immune system with syngeneic canine HSP70 antigens, which may be beneficial in terms of further augmenting the clonal expansion of HSP70 cross-reactive lymphocytes.

Regarding the humoral response, recombinant caHSP70 and chHSP70 peptide pools were used to investigate the variation in caHSP70 and chHSP70 antibody titers via ELISA. No significant variation at different time points were observed in any of the immunized dogs (Fig. 10A and Fig. 10B), and the broad range of baseline chHSP70 antibody titers observed in dogs of all groups (Fig. 10C) could be one of the reasons for this lack of variation. Other studies have shown anti-HSP70 antibodies to be present not only in autoimmune-disease patients but also in 60% of healthy human sera [246, 247]. In addition, anti-syngeneic HSP70 antibodies have been evaluated in unimmunized healthy BALB/cJ, C3H-HeJ and C57BL/6 mice, and it has been shown that the titer of HSP70 autoantibody differed between strains in mice, and even in individuals of the same strain [248]. It is generally believed that microorganism infection could lead to the presence of HSP70 antibodies, which cross-react with syngeneic HSP70 [249]. This is one explanation for the broad range of baseline titers found in our experimental dogs. In addition, in studies of xenogeneic DNA vaccines, humoral antibodies have not always been found in immunized animals with different vaccination schedules [143, 145], and different genetic backgrounds can cause varying responses to xenogeneic HSP70 immunization. MHC presentation of antigens is also important in shaping antibody responses [229], and because the beagles in our study were outbred, differences in MHC alleles between dogs must be taken into consideration with regards to the high baseline HSP70 antibody levels.

HSP70 induces IL-6 production, which triggers CD4- and CD8-dependent

progressive T helper 17 (Th17)-mediated autoimmunity [250]. The presence of TGF- β is required for the differentiation of both Treg and Th17 subsets in mice, and IL-6 acts as a switch to direct naïve T cells towards Th17 and away from the Treg lineage [251]. The major task of Treg is thought to be the maintenance of immune tolerance to prevent the occurrence of autoimmunity in healthy individuals [3, 11]. On the other hand, the presence of Treg cells within a tumor was found to suppress T-cell responses against the tumor [3]. In the CTVT model, the high concentration of CTVT-derived TGF- β in the P phase suppresses the immune activities of DCs and NK cells to create an immune tolerance microenvironment [222, 224]. During the SR phase, TILs secrete IL-6, which antagonizes the suppressive effects of TGF- β to promote expression of MHC molecules and restore the cytotoxicity of NK cells [224, 225]. Thus, it would be interesting to employ the CTVT model to study the role of immunocyte interactions in relation to self-tolerance which were overcome by *chHSP70* DNA vaccination, such as the measurement of balance arm in the decrease of Treg and Th17-related cytokine gene expression after vaccination,

In conclusion, only prophylactic administration of the xenogeneic *chHSP70* vaccine induced significant host immune responses specifically against caHSP70 and caused tumor regression in a canine cancer model. No adverse effects were observed in immunized dogs. This protocol has the potential to be a promising novel prophylactic strategy to inhibit the growth of tumors expressing HSP70. However, additional research is still required to ensure that these data can be translated into a commercial product.

Figures



Figure 1 Schematic map of the pCG073 plasmid map of which encoded chicken HSP70 sequence.

The fragment of synthetic *chHSP70* was subcloned into pLL14 expressing vector using EcoRV and Xbal restriation sites and named pCG073. The *chHSP70* sequence is under the control of cytomegalovirus immediate promoter (CMV). Ori: origen of replication; kanaR: kanamycin resistence gene.

	1100
caHSP70	 MAKSAAIGIDLGTTYSCVGVFQHGKVEIIANDQGNRTTPSVVAFTDTERLIGDAAKNQVALNPQNTFDAKELIGRAFGDPVVQSDAKHNPFQVVNDGD
chHSP70	(1) MSCROPAIGIDLGTTYSCVGVFQHCKVEIIANDQONRTTPSYVAFTDTERLIGDAAKNQVAANPTNTFDAKRLIGRATDDFTVQSDAKHNPFRVVNEG
Consensus	(1) AK AIGIDLGTTYSCVGVFQHCKVEIIANDQGNRTTPSYVAFTDTERLIGDAAKNQVALNP NTIFDAKRLIGRAF DP VQSDMKHWPF VVNDG
	101 200
caHSP70	100) KPKVQVSYKGETAFYPEEISSMVLTKMKEIAEAYLGYPVTNAVITVPAYFNDSQRQATKDAGVIAGLNVERIINEPTAAAIAYGLDETGKGEENVLI
chHSP70	(101) KPKVQVEYKGEMIT PPEEISSMVLTKMKEIAEAYLGKKVETAVITVPAYFNDSQRQATKDAGTITGLNVMRIINEPTAAAIAYGLDKKGTRAGEKNVL
Consensus	(101) KPKVQV YKGE K FFPEEISSMVLTKMKEIAEAYLG V AVITVPAYFNDSQRQATKDAG I GLNVLRIINEPTAAAIAYGLDK G GEKNVL
	201 300
caHSP70	198) FDLGGGTFDVSILTIDDGIFEVKATAGDTHLGGEDFDNELVNHFVEEFKRKHKADIGONKRAVRELRTACERARTLSSSTQASLEIDSLFEGIDFYTSI
chHSP70	201) FDLGGGTFDVSILTIEDGIFEVKSTAGDTHLGGEDFDNEMVNRFVEEFKCKHKEDNICNKRAVRELRTACERAERTLSSSTQASIEIDSLFEGIDFYTSI
Consensus	201) FDLGGGTFDVSILTIDDGIFEVKATAGDTHLGGEDFDNRLVN FVEEFK KHKKD A NKRAVRRLRTACERAKRTLSSSTQASIEIDSLFEGIDFYTSI
	301 400
caHSP70	298) TRARFEELC <mark>S</mark> DLFRSTLEPVEKALRDAKLDK <mark>AQIHDL</mark> VLVGGSTRIPK <mark>V</mark> QKLLQDFFNG <mark>RD</mark> LNKSINPDEAVAYGAAVQAAILMGDKSENVQDLLLLDVA
chHSP70	301) TRARFEELMADLFRCTLEPVEKALRDAKLDKOQIQ <mark>EI</mark> VLVGGSTRIPK <mark>I</mark> QKLLQDFRVG <mark>KE</mark> LMKSINPDEAVAYGAAVQAAILMGDKSENVQDLLLLDVT
Consensus	301) TRARFEEL ADLFR TLEPVEKALRDAKLDKAQI DIVLVGGSTRIPKIQKLLQDFRVGKDLNKSINPDEAVAYGAAVQAAILMGDKSENVQDLLLLDV
	401 500
caHSP70	398) PLSLGLETAGGVMTALSR-NSTIPTKQTQIFTTYSDNQPGVLIQVYEGERAMTEDNOLLGRFELSGIPPAPPGVPQIEVIFDIDANGILNVTATDKSTCK
chHSP70	401) PLSLGETAGGVMTALINANTTIPTKQTQTFTTYSDWQSSVLVQVYEGERAMTKDWDLLGKFDLTGIPPAPRCVPQTEVTFDIDANGILNVSAVDKSTCK
Consensus	401) PLSLGIETRGGVMTAL K NSTIPTRQTQ FITYSDNQ VLIQVYEGERAMTKDNNLLGKPDLSGIPPAPRGVPQIEVIFDIDANGILNVSA DKSTGR
chHSP70	497) ANKITITINDKORISKEETENWYGERENYKREDEVYRDIN/SRIVALESYR WIKSRYEDEGLIKOKISERDKKWYDINOGEVISWLDGPITREKEEPEHRAN
Consensus	201) CIVITTI MONONTRA DI MANAGENEN MARINE A MONONANA LESI T I MANATI MENANANANANANANANANANANANANANANANANANANA
Concenede	501) NKITITNUKGRUSKUDIURGWVQEREKYKREDE NRURV RAVALESY PNOK VEDE LKOKISU UK KVLUKOQEVIS LU LAEKDEPEHK K
caHSP70	
chHSP70	
Consensus	OUI ELEARURINIANNA WY
00110011000	OUT ELE LURFITT LINGARGE GAGE GOS GETTEEND

Figure 2 The homology between canine and chicken HSP70.

Amino acid sequence comparison of canine and chicken HSP70 shows a high degree of homology at amino acid level. The calculated sequence identity by Vector NTI between canine and chicken HSP70 is 83.5%, indicating the high homology of the HSP70. Yellow highlights identical residuals and the green highlights similar residuals.



Figure 3 Vaccination strategies in groups.

To evaluate the prophylactic efficiency of xenogeneic chicken (ch) HSP70 DNA vaccine, the G1 dogs (n=4) were immunized twice via transdermal injection using Vitajet3 (Merial, France) at four and two weeks before CTVT inoculation. The third vaccine was administered intramuscularly plus electroporation (Sphergen, France) at three weeks after CTVT inoculation. To evaluate the therapeutic efficiency of *chHSP70* DNA vaccine on growing tumors as in G2, *chHSP70* DNA was administered to the dogs at first, second and fifth weeks after CTVT inoculation via transdermal injection (n=4).

The vaccination schedule of G3 was the same with G1 but the vaccination/electroporation was replaced by TD NF injection at the third vaccination. There was one dog each for each group (G1-c, G2-c and G3-c, respectively) as vector control immunized with empty

vector following the same strategies. NT group (n=4) were dogs inoculated with CTVT without any treatment and were served as tumor normal growth curve. The samples from control groups were also collected at the same time points for further experiments. All the sample collection times were described in Table 1.

V1: first vaccination, V2: second vaccination, V3: third vaccination, CTVT: tumor inoculation.

- P: tumor progressive phase.
- SR: tumor spontaneous regression in normal CTVT-bearing dogs.
- R: tumor regression in chHSP70 DNA vaccinated dogs.
- * the time point served as the baseline data.





A.

D.



Figure 4 Inhibition of tumor growth after vaccinations.

A. Tumor sizes in G1 and NT dogs were measured weekly after CTVT inoculation. The inhibition of tumor growth from prophylactic administration of *chHSP70* in G1 was significantly effective.

B. Tumor sizes in G2 and NT dogs after CTVT inoculation. The inhibition of tumor growth from G2 dogs were observed only in the early stage of tumor growth.

C. Tumor sizes in G3 and NT dogs after CTVT inoculation. The inhibition of tumor growth from G3 was effective.

D. Tumor growth curves from all of the experimental groups and NT group were compared.



Figure 5 Histopathology of CTVT at P phase.

Abundant lymphocytes infiltrated focally to the tumors in *chHSP70* DNA immunized G1 dogs (a). Fewer or no lymphocytes infiltrations were seen in G2 (b), G3 (c), G1-c (d), G2-c (e), G3-c (f) and NT dogs (g) compared with the G1 dogs. Many necrotic foci (arrow) were also found in G1 tumors (h). H&E stain. Original magnifications, 400X.

A. CD4 TILs

a. P phase

b. SR/R phase



Figure 6 CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ TILs subpopulations at P phase and R phase in dogs.

The TILs were isolated from CTVT tissue. The percentage of CD4⁺ (upper panel) and CD8⁺ (lower panel) subpopulation in TILs at P phase and SR/R phase were analyzed by a FACSCalliber.

A. The percentage of the CD4⁺ TILs in G1 dogs was statistically higher than groups at P phase (a) and also in SR/R phase (b).

B. The percentage of the CD8⁺ TILs in G1 dogs (a) was statistically higher than NT dogs at P phase. However, there was no statistical difference among groups at SR /R phase (b).



B.

a. P phase



b. SR/R phase



Figure 7 Immunohistochemistry staining for CD3 lymphocytes.

A. The immunohisotochemistry staining for CD3 lymphocytes at P phase showed that there are plenty of $CD3^+T$ lymphocytes infiltrated and clustered in CTVT in G1 (a), G2 (b) and G3 dogs (c). Only small number of $CD3^+T$ lymphocytes are observed but scattered in CTVT of vector control dogs (G1-c, d; G2-c, e; G3-c: f) and NT dogs (g). The rabbit normal serum was used as negative control (h). Original magnification, 200X and 1000X (inset).

B. Evaluation and analysis for Immunohistochemistry staining at P phase (a) and S/SR phase (b).





Figure 8 The cytotoxicity of PBMC to CTVT from dogs immunized the xenogeneic chHSP70 DNA vaccine were increased.

PBMC were collected as effector cells. CTVT cells were served as target cells. A non-radioisotope LDH releasing test (Cytotox 96[®], Promega) was used to assay the cytotoxicity of PBMC toward CTVT.

A. PBMC from dogs from groups before experiments were collected and co-cultured with P phase CTVT cells. It indicated the baseline PBMC showed no cytotoxicity towards CTVT before any treatments.

B. PBMC from dogs in each groups at P phase were collected as effector cells and co-cultured with P phase CTVT cells. It indicated that the cytotoxicity of PBMC from G1, G2 and G3 dogs were significantly higher compared with NT dogs, especially in G1 dogs.

C. PBMC from dogs at SR/R phase were collected as effector cells and co-cultured with SR/R phase CTVT cells. The cytotoxicity of PBMC toward CTVT in G1, G2 and G3 dogs were also significantly increased compared with NT dogs. *p<0.05, **p<0.01.

A. Baseline



54

C. S/SR phase



Figure 9 Canine HSP70-specific IFN-γ production at SR or R phase were significantly higher in G1 dogs than other groups.

A. PBMC before experiments were collected used to evaluate the caHSP70 and *chHSP70* or tumor lysates specific IFN- γ producing cells with canine IFN- γ ELISpot kit (R&D). The quantity of specific IFN- γ producing cells were no difference between each group dogs and each antigen groups before experiments.

"ND": not detectable.

B. PBMC were collected from dogs at P phase were used to evaluate the HSP70-specific IFN- γ producing cells. The caHSP70, *chHSP70* and tumor lysates specific IFN- γ producing cells from G1 dogs at P phase were obviously higher than other groups. "ND": not detectable.

C. The evaluation of specific IFN-γ secreting cells at SR or R phase. The caHSP70 producing cells in G1and G3 dogs were significantly more than G2 and NT groups.



В.



Figure 10 NK cytotoxicity in vaccination groups showed no significantly increased after three times vaccinations.

PBMC were collected to evaluate the NK cytotoxicity by a LDH releasing assay (Cytotox96[®], Promega). The target of NK cells were canine thyreoid adenocarcinoma (CTAC).

A. PBMC before experiments were collected to evaluate the NK cytotoxicity. The NK cytotoxicity was no difference before experiment.

B. PBMC were collected at P phase. The NK cytotoxicity was no significant difference among groups.

C. PBMC were collected from SR or R phase were used to evaluate the NK cytotoxicity. The NK cytotoxicity was also no significant difference among groups at R phase.

caHSP70 antibody titer chHSP70 antibody titer 2.5 2.5 8 G1-c 🖶 G1-c 2.0 G1 2.0 -G1 0D450nm OD450nm 1.5 1.5 1.0 1.0 0.5 0.5 0.0 0.0 3 -4 ó 6-9(R) -4 ò 5(P) 6-9(R) 3 5(P) Weeks after inoculation Weeks after inoculation

С.

A.



Figure 11 The humoral response against caHSP70 and chHSP70.

The caHSP70 and chHSP70 antibodies in serum from dogs were evaluated by ELISA with recombinant caHSP70 and chHSP70 peptide pools.

A. Evaluation of caHSP70 antibody in serum from G1-c and immunized G1 dogs at different time points.

B. Evaluation of chHSP70 antibody in serum from G1-c and immunized G1 dogs at different time points.

C. Evaluation of caHSP70 and chHSP70 antibodies at baseline in serum from NT, G1-c and G1 dogs.

Tables





Table 1 The samples and collection time points in each experimental group.

This table showed the different samples from four experimental groups and its sampling time points. "TD" means transdermal needle-free injection. "IM+E" means injection intramuscularly followed with electroporation. "N" means non- treatment to dogs.

Antibody source	CD4	CD8	
1. UC Davis	CA13.1E4	CA9.JD3	
2. SeroTec	CA13.IE4	CA9.JD3	
3. CMI		1.140	

Table 2 The CD4 and CD8 antinodies haven been tested for immunohisochemistrystaining for TILs subpopulations assay.

This table showed the all the tested CD4 and CD8 antibodies for TILs subpopulations in paraffin embedded sections. However, all of these antibodies did not work.

10 - 10 - The local							
	Reference	NT	GL	G2	G3		
RBC (10 ⁶ /µL)	5.5~8.5	7.3±1.0	5.8±0.4	5.7±0.9	6.9±0.6		
Hb (g/dL)	12~18	16.8±1.9	13.9±1.1	13.4±2.3	16.5±1.4		
WBC (/µL)	6000~17000	6600.0±984.9	7266.7±1026.3	6100.0±1389.2	6700±629.8		
Platelet (10 ³ /µL)	200~900	364.5±103.9	235.3±121.6	193.8±70.6	263.0±12.7		
Albumin (g/dL)	2.3~3.9	2.8±0.2	2.7±0.5	2.63±0.15	2.6±0.2		
ALT (U/L)	3~50	25.3±2.0	25.3±19.9	12.3±8.2	14.0±10.4		
AST (U/L)	1~37	38±7.8	38.0±3.4	36.3±3.3	33.0±2.0		
BUN (mg/dl)	4.5~30.5	8.7±2.3	10.3±2.2	6.5±1.8	4.7±0.6		
Creatinine (mg/dL)	0.5~1.5	0.5±0.1	0.7±0.2	0.6±0.1	0.5±0.0		
Glucose (mg/dL)	67~147	87.7±12.6	85.8±21.7	95.5±19.3	115±30.5		
Total protein (mg/dL)	4.8~6.6	6.3±0.3	6.3±0.4	5.9±0.3	6.3±0.6		

Table 3 Toxicity study of xenogeneic chHSP70 DNA vaccine.

The blood samples were collected and processed for the evaluation of chemical parameters by routine clinical chemistry laboratory techniques using standard equipment. The mean values obtained from the G1 and G3 dogs at P phase 2 weeks after the third vaccination. And the mean values also obtained from G2 dogs at P phase after the second vaccination.

Reference

- [1] Hogquist KA, Baldwin TA, Jameson SC. Central tolerance: learning self-control in the thymus. Nat Rev Immunol 2005 Oct;5(10):772-82.
- [2] Arnold B, Schonrich G, Hammerling GJ. Multiple levels of peripheral tolerance. Immunol Today 1993 Jan;14(1):12-4.
- [3] Mapara MY, Sykes M. Tolerance and cancer: mechanisms of tumor evasion and strategies for breaking tolerance. J Clin Oncol 2004 Mar 15;22(6):1136-51.
- [4] Melamed D, Nemazee D. Self-antigen does not accelerate immature B cell apoptosis, but stimulates receptor editing as a consequence of developmental arrest. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 1997 Aug 19;94(17):9267-72.
- [5] McGargill MA, Derbinski JM, Hogquist KA. Receptor editing in developing T cells. Nat Immunol 2000 Oct;1(4):336-41.
- [6] Walker LS, Abbas AK. The enemy within: keeping self-reactive T cells at bay in the periphery. Nat Rev Immunol 2002 Jan;2(1):11-9.
- [7] Espinoza-Delgado I. Cancer vaccines. Oncologist 2002;7 Suppl 3:20-33.
- [8] Strand S, Hofmann WJ, Hug H, Muller M, Otto G, Strand D, et al. Lymphocyte apoptosis induced by CD95 (APO-1/Fas) ligand-expressing tumor cells--a mechanism of immune evasion? Nat Med 1996 Dec;2(12):1361-6.
- [9] Gastman BR, Atarshi Y, Reichert TE, Saito T, Balkir L, Rabinowich H, et al. Fas ligand is expressed on human squamous cell carcinomas of the head and neck, and it promotes apoptosis of T lymphocytes. Cancer Res 1999 Oct 15;59(20):5356-64.
- [10] Walker PR, Saas P, Dietrich PY. Tumor expression of Fas ligand (CD95L) and the consequences. Curr Opin Immunol 1998 Oct;10(5):564-72.
- [11] Sioud M. Does our current understanding of immune tolerance, autoimmunity, and immunosuppressive mechanisms facilitate the design of efficient cancer vaccines? Scand J Immunol 2009 Dec;70(6):516-25.
- [12] Neeson P, Paterson Y. Effects of the tumor microenvironment on the efficacy of tumor immunotherapy. Immunol Invest 2006;35(3-4):359-94.
- [13] Rosenberg SA. A new era for cancer immunotherapy based on the genes that encode cancer antigens. Immunity 1999 Mar;10(3):281-7.
- [14] Neller MA, Lopez JA, Schmidt CW. Antigens for cancer immunotherapy. Semin Immunol 2008 Oct;20(5):286-95.
- [15] Santin AD, Bellone S, Palmieri M, Bossini B, Roman JJ, Cannon MJ, et al. Induction of tumor-specific cytotoxicity in tumor infiltrating lymphocytes by HPV16 and HPV18 E7-pulsed autologous dendritic cells in patients with cancer of the uterine cervix. Gynecol Oncol 2003 May;89(2):271-80.
- [16] Morse MA, Clay TM, Colling K, Hobeika A, Grabstein K, Cheever MA, et al. HER2 dendritic cell vaccines. Clin Breast Cancer 2003 Feb;3 Suppl 4:S164-72.
- [17] Kim JJ, Trivedi NN, Wilson DM, Mahalingam S, Morrison L, Tsai A, et al. Molecular and immunological analysis of genetic prostate specific antigen (PSA) vaccine. Oncogene 1998 Dec 17;17(24):3125-35.
- [18] Lode HN, Pertl U, Xiang R, Gaedicke G, Reisfeld RA. Tyrosine hydroxylase-based DNA-vaccination is effective against murine neuroblastoma. Med Pediatr Oncol 2000 Dec;35(6):641-6.
- [19] Ohwada A, Nagaoka I, Takahashi F, Tominaga S, Fukuchi Y. DNA vaccination against HuD antigen elicits antitumor activity in a small-cell lung cancer murine model. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol 1999 Jul;21(1):37-43.
- [20] Pandha H, Eaton J, Greenhalgh R, Soars D, Dalgleish A. Immunotherapy of murine prostate cancer using whole tumor cells killed ex vivo by herpes simplex viral

thymidine kinase/ganciclovir suicide gene therapy. Cancer Gene Ther 2005 Jun;12(6):572-8.

- [21] Tung C, Federoff HJ, Brownlee M, Karpoff H, Weigel T, Brennan MF, et al. Rapid production of interleukin-2-secreting tumor cells by herpes simplex virus-mediated gene transfer: implications for autologous vaccine production. Hum Gene Ther 1996 Dec 1;7(18):2217-24.
- [22] Copier J, Dalgleish A. Overview of tumor cell-based vaccines. Int Rev Immunol 2006 Sep-Dec;25(5-6):297-319.
- [23] Hahn WC. Role of telomeres and telomerase in the pathogenesis of human cancer. J Clin Oncol 2003 May 15;21(10):2034-43.
- [24] Beatty GL, Vonderheide RH. Telomerase as a universal tumor antigen for cancer vaccines. Expert Rev Vaccines 2008 Sep;7(7):881-7.
- [25] Janknecht R. On the road to immortality: hTERT upregulation in cancer cells. FEBS Lett 2004 Apr 23;564(1-2):9-13.
- [26] Garcia Lozano MC, Orradre Romero JL, Martinez Alvarez A, Saez del Castillo AI, Piris Pinilla MA. [Pronostic value of the MDM-2 protein expression in the larynx cancer]. An Otorrinolaringol Ibero Am 2004;31(6):571-82.
- [27] Faussillon M, Monnier L, Junien C, Jeanpierre C. Frequent overexpression of cyclin D2/cyclin-dependent kinase 4 in Wilms' tumor. Cancer Lett 2005 Apr 18;221(1):67-75.
- [28] Huang WS, Wang JP, Wang T, Fang JY, Lan P, Ma JP. ShRNA-mediated gene silencing of beta-catenin inhibits growth of human colon cancer cells. World J Gastroenterol 2007 Dec 28;13(48):6581-7.
- [29] Hollstein MC, Metcalf RA, Welsh JA, Montesano R, Harris CC. Frequent mutation of the p53 gene in human esophageal cancer. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 1990 Dec;87(24):9958-61.
- [30] Ding Q, Zhang Y, Sun X. [The study of p53 gene mutation in human bladder cancer]. Zhonghua Wai Ke Za Zhi 1995 Nov;33(11):684-6.
- [31] Zhang B, Cui W, Gao Y. [Mutation of P53 gene in a highly metastatic human lung cancer cell line]. Zhonghua Zhong Liu Za Zhi 1995 Jul;17(4):279-82.
- [32] Kinoshita H, Yanagisawa A, Watanabe T, Nagawa H, Oya M, Kato Y, et al. Increase in the frequency of K-ras codon 12 point mutation in colorectal carcinoma in elderly males in Japan: the 1990s compared with the 1960s. Cancer Sci 2005 Apr;96(4):218-20.
- [33] Roa JC, Anabalon L, Tapia O, Melo A, de Aretxabala X, Roa I. [Frequency of K-ras mutation in biliary and pancreatic tumors]. Rev Med Chil 2005 Dec;133(12):1434-40.
- [34] Lee KH, Lee JS, Suh C, Kim SW, Kim SB, Lee JH, et al. Clinicopathologic significance of the K-ras gene codon 12 point mutation in stomach cancer. An analysis of 140 cases. Cancer 1995 Jun 15;75(12):2794-801.
- [35] Hachisuga T, Tsujioka H, Horiuchi S, Udou T, Emoto M, Kawarabayashi T. K-ras mutation in the endometrium of tamoxifen-treated breast cancer patients, with a comparison of tamoxifen and toremifene. Br J Cancer 2005 Mar 28;92(6):1098-103.
- [36] Hofmann WK, Komor M, Wassmann B, Jones LC, Gschaidmeier H, Hoelzer D, et al. Presence of the BCR-ABL mutation Glu255Lys prior to STI571 (imatinib) treatment in patients with Ph+ acute lymphoblastic leukemia. Blood 2003 Jul 15;102(2):659-61.
- [37] Stefano R, Agostara B, Calabro M, Campisi I, Ravazzolo B, Traina A, et al. Expression levels and clinical-pathological correlations of HER2/neu in primary and metastatic human breast cancer. Ann N Y Acad Sci 2004 Dec;1028:463-72.
- [38] Tuziak T, Olszewski WP, Olszewski W, Pienkowski T. Expression of HER2/neu in primary and metastatic breast cancer. Pol J Pathol 2001;52(1-2):21-6.
- [39] Korrapati V, Gaffney M, Larsson LG, Di Nunno L, Riggs M, Beissner RS, et al. Effect of HER2/neu expression on survival in non-small-cell lung cancer. Clin Lung Cancer 2001 Feb;2(3):216-9.
- [40] Yoshino I, Peoples GE, Goedegebuure PS, Maziarz R, Eberlein TJ. Association of HER2/neu expression with sensitivity to tumor-specific CTL in human ovarian cancer. J Immunol 1994 Mar 1;152(5):2393-400.
- [41] Molldrem J, Dermime S, Parker K, Jiang YZ, Mavroudis D, Hensel N, et al. Targeted T-cell therapy for human leukemia: cytotoxic T lymphocytes specific for a peptide derived from proteinase 3 preferentially lyse human myeloid leukemia cells. Blood 1996 Oct 1;88(7):2450-7.
- [42] Batra SK, Hollingsworth MA. Expression of the human mucin gene, Muc 1, in normal tissues and metastatic pancreatic tumors. Int J Pancreatol 1991 Nov-Dec;10(3-4):287-92.
- [43] Nakagawa K, Akagi J, Takai E, Tamori Y, Okino T, Kako H, et al. Prognostic values of MUC-1 molecule expressing cytokine receptor-like epitope and DF3 in patients with gastric carcinoma. Int J Oncol 1999 Mar;14(3):425-35.
- [44] Gao P, Zhou GY, Zhang QH, Xiang L, Ma C, Yu HP, et al. [Expression of mucin 1 and tumor invasiveness in breast carcinoma]. Zhonghua Yi Xue Za Zhi 2005 Feb 16;85(6):381-4.
- [45] Willsher PC, Xing PX, Clarke CP, Ho DW, McKenzie IF. Mucin 1 antigens in the serum and bronchial lavage fluid of patients with lung cancer. Cancer 1993 Nov 15;72(10):2936-42.
- [46] Kotera Y, Fontenot JD, Pecher G, Metzgar RS, Finn OJ. Humoral immunity against a tandem repeat epitope of human mucin MUC-1 in sera from breast, pancreatic, and colon cancer patients. Cancer Res 1994 Jun 1;54(11):2856-60.
- [47] Teruya-Feldstein J, Donnelly GB, Goy A, Hegde A, Nanjangud G, Qin J, et al. MUC-1 mucin protein expression in B-cell lymphomas. Appl Immunohistochem Mol Morphol 2003 Mar;11(1):28-32.
- [48] Cardillo MR, Castagna G, Memeo L, De Bernardinis E, Di Silverio F. Epidermal growth factor receptor, MUC-1 and MUC-2 in bladder cancer. J Exp Clin Cancer Res 2000 Jun;19(2):225-33.
- [49] Inoue K, Sugiyama H. [WT 1 and leukemia]. Rinsho Ketsueki 1995 Jun;36(6):552-8.
- [50] Heatley MK. WT-1 in ovarian and endometrioid serous carcinoma: a meta-analysis. Histopathology 2005 Apr;46(4):468.
- [51] Marincola FM, Hijazi YM, Fetsch P, Salgaller ML, Rivoltini L, Cormier J, et al. Analysis of expression of the melanoma-associated antigens MART-1 and gp100 in metastatic melanoma cell lines and in in situ lesions. J Immunother Emphasis Tumor Immunol 1996 May;19(3):192-205.
- [52] Argani P, Iacobuzio-Donahue C, Ryu B, Rosty C, Goggins M, Wilentz RE, et al. Mesothelin is overexpressed in the vast majority of ductal adenocarcinomas of the pancreas: identification of a new pancreatic cancer marker by serial analysis of gene expression (SAGE). Clin Cancer Res 2001 Dec;7(12):3862-8.
- [53] Hassan R, Kreitman RJ, Pastan I, Willingham MC. Localization of mesothelin in epithelial ovarian cancer. Appl Immunohistochem Mol Morphol 2005 Sep;13(3):243-7.
- [54]Ordonez NG. Value of mesothelin immunostaining in the diagnosis of mesothelioma. Mod Pathol 2003 Mar;16(3):192-7.

- [55] Cui WG, Zhao H, Song YZ, Zhang J, Zhang LG, Shi JD, et al. [Clinical significance of expression of PSA, hK2, PSMA in the peripheral blood of patients with prostate cancer]. Zhonghua Zhong Liu Za Zhi 2004 Aug;26(8):479-81.
- [56] Foekens JA, Diamandis EP, Yu H, Look MP, Meijer-van Gelder ME, van Putten WL, et al. Expression of prostate-specific antigen (PSA) correlates with poor response to tamoxifen therapy in recurrent breast cancer. Br J Cancer 1999 Feb;79(5-6):888-94.
- [57] Dalerba P, Ricci A, Russo V, Rigatti D, Nicotra MR, Mottolese M, et al. High homogeneity of MAGE, BAGE, GAGE, tyrosinase and Melan-A/MART-1 gene expression in clusters of multiple simultaneous metastases of human melanoma: implications for protocol design of therapeutic antigen-specific vaccination strategies. Int J Cancer 1998 Jul 17;77(2):200-4.
- [58] Reinke S, Koniger P, Herberth G, Audring H, Wang H, Ma J, et al. Differential expression of MART-1, tyrosinase, and SM5-1 in primary and metastatic melanoma. Am J Dermatopathol 2005 Oct;27(5):401-6.
- [59] Wagner SN, Wagner C, Schultewolter T, Goos M. Analysis of Pmel17/gp100 expression in primary human tissue specimens: implications for melanoma immunoand gene-therapy. Cancer Immunol Immunother 1997 Jun;44(4):239-47.
- [60] Nishioka E, Funasaka Y, Kondoh H, Chakraborty AK, Mishima Y, Ichihashi M. Expression of tyrosinase, TRP-1 and TRP-2 in ultraviolet-irradiated human melanomas and melanocytes: TRP-2 protects melanoma cells from ultraviolet B induced apoptosis. Melanoma Res 1999 Oct;9(5):433-43.
- [61] Neumann E, Engelsberg A, Decker J, Storkel S, Jaeger E, Huber C, et al. Heterogeneous expression of the tumor-associated antigens RAGE-1, PRAME, and glycoprotein 75 in human renal cell carcinoma: candidates for T-cell-based immunotherapies? Cancer Res 1998 Sep 15;58(18):4090-5.
- [62] Yamada A, Kataoka A, Shichijo S, Kamura T, Imai Y, Nishida T, et al. Expression of MAGE-1, MAGE-2, MAGE-3/-6 and MAGE-4a/-4b genes in ovarian tumors. Int J Cancer 1995 Dec 20;64(6):388-93.
- [63] Tesarova P, Kalousova M, Jachymova M, Mestek O, Petruzelka L, Zima T. Receptor for advanced glycation end products (RAGE)--soluble form (sRAGE) and gene polymorphisms in patients with breast cancer. Cancer Invest 2007 Dec;25(8):720-5.
- [64] Ishiguro H, Nakaigawa N, Miyoshi Y, Fujinami K, Kubota Y, Uemura H. Receptor for advanced glycation end products (RAGE) and its ligand, amphoterin are overexpressed and associated with prostate cancer development. Prostate 2005 Jun 15;64(1):92-100.
- [65] Aubry F, Satie AP, Rioux-Leclercq N, Rajpert-De Meyts E, Spagnoli GC, Chomez P, et al. MAGE-A4, a germ cell specific marker, is expressed differentially in testicular tumors. Cancer 2001 Dec 1;92(11):2778-85.
- [66] Satie AP, Auger J, Chevrier C, Le Bon C, Jouannet P, Samson M, et al. Seminal expression of NY-ESO-1 and MAGE-A4 as markers for the testicular cancer. Int J Androl 2009 Jan 20.
- [67] Kocher T, Zheng M, Bolli M, Simon R, Forster T, Schultz-Thater E, et al. Prognostic relevance of MAGE-A4 tumor antigen expression in transitional cell carcinoma of the urinary bladder: a tissue microarray study. Int J Cancer 2002 Aug 20;100(6):702-5.
- [68] Suzuki S, Sasajima K, Sato Y, Watanabe H, Matsutani T, Iida S, et al. MAGE-A protein and MAGE-A10 gene expressions in liver metastasis in patients with stomach cancer. Br J Cancer 2008 Jul 22;99(2):350-6.

- [69] Akcakanat A, Kanda T, Tanabe T, Komukai S, Yajima K, Nakagawa S, et al. Heterogeneous expression of GAGE, NY-ESO-1, MAGE-A and SSX proteins in esophageal cancer: Implications for immunotherapy. Int J Cancer 2006 Jan 1;118(1):123-8.
- [70] Shao JB, Chen Z. [Expression of MAGE, GAGE, and BAGE genes in human hepatocellular carcinoma]. Zhonghua Gan Zang Bing Za Zhi 2003 Mar;11(3):142-4.
- [71] Shichijo S, Hayashi A, Takamori S, Tsunosue R, Hoshino T, Sakata M, et al. Detection of MAGE-4 protein in lung cancers. Int J Cancer 1995 Jun 22;64(3):158-65.
- [72] Iwamoto O, Nagao Y, Shichijo S, Eura M, Kameyama T, Itoh K. Detection of MAGE-4 protein in sera of patients with head-and-neck squamous-cell carcinoma. Int J Cancer 1997 Jan 27;70(3):287-90.
- [73] Levy R, Levy S, Brown SL, Kon S, Carroll W. Anti-idiotype antibodies reveal the existence of somatic mutation in human B cell lymphoma. Monogr Allergy 1987;22:194-203.
- [74] Schmitt E, Gehrmann M, Brunet M, Multhoff G, Garrido C. Intracellular and extracellular functions of heat shock proteins: repercussions in cancer therapy. J Leukoc Biol 2007 Jan;81(1):15-27.
- [75] Binder RJ. Heat shock protein vaccines: from bench to bedside. Int Rev Immunol 2006 Sep-Dec;25(5-6):353-75.
- [76] Calderwood SK, Mambula SS, Gray PJ, Jr., Theriault JR. Extracellular heat shock proteins in cell signaling. FEBS Lett 2007 Jul 31;581(19):3689-94.
- [77] Manjili MH, Wang XY, Park J, Facciponte JG, Repasky EA, Subjeck JR. Immunotherapy of cancer using heat shock proteins. Front Biosci 2002 Jan 1;7:d43-52.
- [78] Bolhassani A, Rafati S. Heat-shock proteins as powerful weapons in vaccine development. Expert Rev Vaccines 2008 Oct;7(8):1185-99.
- [79] Sherman M, Multhoff G. Heat shock proteins in cancer. Ann N Y Acad Sci 2007 Oct;1113:192-201.
- [80] Radons J, Multhoff G. Immunostimulatory functions of membrane-bound and exported heat shock protein 70. Exerc Immunol Rev 2005;11:17-33.
- [81] Chu RM, Sun TJ, Yang HY, Wang DG, Liao KW, Chuang TF, et al. Heat shock proteins in canine transmissible venereal tumor. Vet Immunol Immunopathol 2001 Sep 28;82(1-2):9-21.
- [82] Wells AD, Rai SK, Salvato MS, Band H, Malkovsky M. Restoration of MHC class I surface expression and endogenous antigen presentation by a molecular chaperone. Scand J Immunol 1997 Jun;45(6):605-12.
- [83] Grossmann ME, Madden BJ, Gao F, Pang YP, Carpenter JE, McCormick D, et al. Proteomics shows Hsp70 does not bind peptide sequences indiscriminately in vivo. Exp Cell Res 2004 Jul 1;297(1):108-17.
- [84] Becker T, Hartl FU, Wieland F. CD40, an extracellular receptor for binding and uptake of Hsp70-peptide complexes. J Cell Biol 2002 Sep 30;158(7):1277-85.
- [85] Binder RJ, Han DK, Srivastava PK. CD91: a receptor for heat shock protein gp96. Nat Immunol 2000 Aug;1(2):151-5.
- [86] Asea A, Kraeft SK, Kurt-Jones EA, Stevenson MA, Chen LB, Finberg RW, et al. HSP70 stimulates cytokine production through a CD14-dependant pathway, demonstrating its dual role as a chaperone and cytokine. Nat Med 2000 Apr;6(4):435-42.
- [87] Asea A, Rehli M, Kabingu E, Boch JA, Bare O, Auron PE, et al. Novel signal transduction pathway utilized by extracellular HSP70: role of toll-like receptor (TLR)

2 and TLR4. J Biol Chem 2002 Apr 26;277(17):15028-34.

- [88] Berwin B, Hart JP, Rice S, Gass C, Pizzo SV, Post SR, et al. Scavenger receptor-A mediates gp96/GRP94 and calreticulin internalization by antigen-presenting cells. EMBO J 2003 Nov 17;22(22):6127-36.
- [89] Delneste Y, Magistrelli G, Gauchat J, Haeuw J, Aubry J, Nakamura K, et al. Involvement of LOX-1 in dendritic cell-mediated antigen cross-presentation. Immunity 2002 Sep;17(3):353-62.
- [90] Multhoff G, Pfister K, Gehrmann M, Hantschel M, Gross C, Hafner M, et al. A 14-mer Hsp70 peptide stimulates natural killer (NK) cell activity. Cell Stress Chaperones 2001 Oct;6(4):337-44.
- [91] Gross C, Hansch D, Gastpar R, Multhoff G. Interaction of heat shock protein 70 peptide with NK cells involves the NK receptor CD94. Biol Chem 2003 Feb;384(2):267-79.
- [92] Roigas J, Wallen ES, Loening SA, Moseley PL. Heat shock protein (HSP72) surface expression enhances the lysis of a human renal cell carcinoma by IL-2 stimulated NK cells. Adv Exp Med Biol 1998;451:225-9.
- [93] Multhoff G, Mizzen L, Winchester CC, Milner CM, Wenk S, Eissner G, et al. Heat shock protein 70 (Hsp70) stimulates proliferation and cytolytic activity of natural killer cells. Exp Hematol 1999 Nov;27(11):1627-36.
- [94] Elsner L, Muppala V, Gehrmann M, Lozano J, Malzahn D, Bickeboller H, et al. The heat shock protein HSP70 promotes mouse NK cell activity against tumors that express inducible NKG2D ligands. J Immunol 2007 Oct 15;179(8):5523-33.
- [95] Nanbu K, Konishi I, Mandai M, Kuroda H, Hamid AA, Komatsu T, et al. Prognostic significance of heat shock proteins HSP70 and HSP90 in endometrial carcinomas. Cancer Detect Prev 1998;22(6):549-55.
- [96] Vargas-Roig LM, Fanelli MA, Lopez LA, Gago FE, Tello O, Aznar JC, et al. Heat shock proteins and cell proliferation in human breast cancer biopsy samples. Cancer Detect Prev 1997;21(5):441-51.
- [97] Jaattela M. Escaping cell death: survival proteins in cancer. Exp Cell Res 1999 Apr 10;248(1):30-43.
- [98] Ciocca DR, Clark GM, Tandon AK, Fuqua SA, Welch WJ, McGuire WL. Heat shock protein hsp70 in patients with axillary lymph node-negative breast cancer: prognostic implications. J Natl Cancer Inst 1993 Apr 7;85(7):570-4.
- [99] Multhoff G, Botzler C, Wiesnet M, Muller E, Meier T, Wilmanns W, et al. A stress-inducible 72-kDa heat-shock protein (HSP72) is expressed on the surface of human tumor cells, but not on normal cells. Int J Cancer 1995 Apr 10;61(2):272-9.
- [100]Jaattela M. Over-expression of hsp70 confers tumorigenicity to mouse fibrosarcoma cells. Int J Cancer 1995 Mar 3;60(5):689-93.
- [101]Volloch VZ, Sherman MY. Oncogenic potential of Hsp72. Oncogene 1999 Jun 17;18(24):3648-51.
- [102]Barnes JA, Dix DJ, Collins BW, Luft C, Allen JW. Expression of inducible Hsp70 enhances the proliferation of MCF-7 breast cancer cells and protects against the cytotoxic effects of hyperthermia. Cell Stress Chaperones 2001 Oct;6(4):316-25.
- [103]Kaur J, Ralhan R. Induction of apoptosis by abrogation of HSP70 expression in human oral cancer cells. Int J Cancer 2000 Jan 1;85(1):1-5.
- [104]Wei YQ, Zhao X, Kariya Y, Teshigawara K, Uchida A. Inhibition of proliferation and induction of apoptosis by abrogation of heat-shock protein (HSP) 70 expression in tumor cells. Cancer Immunol Immunother 1995 Feb;40(2):73-8.
- [105]Nylandsted J, Brand K, Jaattela M. Heat shock protein 70 is required for the survival of cancer cells. Ann N Y Acad Sci 2000;926:122-5.

- [106]Gabai VL, Meriin AB, Yaglom JA, Wei JY, Mosser DD, Sherman MY. Suppression of stress kinase JNK is involved in HSP72-mediated protection of myogenic cells from transient energy deprivation. HSP72 alleviates the stewss-induced inhibition of JNK dephosphorylation. J Biol Chem 2000 Dec 1;275(48):38088-94.
- [107]Nilsson JA, Cleveland JL. Myc pathways provoking cell suicide and cancer. Oncogene 2003 Dec 8;22(56):9007-21.
- [108]Eischen CM, Weber JD, Roussel MF, Sherr CJ, Cleveland JL. Disruption of the ARF-Mdm2-p53 tumor suppressor pathway in Myc-induced lymphomagenesis. Genes Dev 1999 Oct 15;13(20):2658-69.
- [109]Shevchik Iu S, Kurbatova EA, Sveshnikov PG, Akhmatova NK, Egorova NB. [Recombinant heat-shock protein (rHSP70) boosts activation of innate and adaptive immunity during simultaneous administration with bacterial antigens in experiment]. Zh Mikrobiol Epidemiol Immunobiol 2009 Jan-Feb(1):42-6.
- [110]Karyampudi L, Ghosh SK. Mycobacterial HSP70 as an adjuvant in the design of an idiotype vaccine against a murine lymphoma. Cell Immunol 2008;254(1):74-80.
- [111]Ullrich SJ, Robinson EA, Law LW, Willingham M, Appella E. A mouse tumor-specific transplantation antigen is a heat shock-related protein. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 1986 May;83(10):3121-5.
- [112]Udono H, Srivastava PK. Comparison of tumor-specific immunogenicities of stress-induced proteins gp96, hsp90, and hsp70. J Immunol 1994 Jun 1;152(11):5398-403.
- [113]Zong J, Peng Q, Wang Q, Zhang T, Fan D, Xu X. Human HSP70 and modified HPV16 E7 fusion DNA vaccine induces enhanced specific CD8+ T cell responses and anti-tumor effects. Oncol Rep 2009 Oct;22(4):953-61.
- [114]Wang L, Rollins L, Gu Q, Chen SY, Huang XF. A Mage3/Heat Shock Protein70 DNA vaccine induces both innate and adaptive immune responses for the antitumor activity. Vaccine 2009 Dec 11;28(2):561-70.
- [115]Liu B, Ye D, Song X, Zhao X, Yi L, Song J, et al. A novel therapeutic fusion protein vaccine by two different families of heat shock proteins linked with HPV16 E7 generates potent antitumor immunity and antiangiogenesis. Vaccine 2008 Mar 4;26(10):1387-96.
- [116]Marshall DJ, San Mateo LR, Rudnick KA, McCarthy SG, Harris MC, McCauley C, et al. Induction of Th1-type immunity and tumor protection with a prostate-specific antigen DNA vaccine. Cancer Immunol Immunother 2005 Nov;54(11):1082-94.
- [117]Iversen PO, Emanuel PD, Sioud M. Targeting Raf-1 gene expression by a DNA enzyme inhibits juvenile myelomonocytic leukemia cell growth. Blood 2002 Jun 1;99(11):4147-53.
- [118]Iversen PO, Sioud M. Modulation of granulocyte-macrophage colony-stimulating factor gene expression by a tumor necrosis factor specific ribozyme in juvenile myelomonocytic leukemic cells. Blood 1998 Dec 1;92(11):4263-8.
- [119]Kolb HJ, Schattenberg A, Goldman JM, Hertenstein B, Jacobsen N, Arcese W, et al. Graft-versus-leukemia effect of donor lymphocyte transfusions in marrow grafted patients. Blood 1995 Sep 1;86(5):2041-50.
- [120]Stauss HJ. Immunotherapy with CTLs restricted by nonself MHC. Immunol Today 1999 Apr;20(4):180-3.
- [121]Gao L, Yang TH, Tourdot S, Sadovnikova E, Hasserjian R, Stauss HJ. Allo-major histocompatibility complex-restricted cytotoxic T lymphocytes engraft in bone marrow transplant recipients without causing graft-versus-host disease. Blood 1999 Nov 1;94(9):2999-3006.

- [122]Tzai TS, Shiau AL, Lin CS, Wu CL, Lin JS. Modulation of the immunostimulating effect of autologous tumor vaccine by anti-TGF-beta antibody and interferon-alpha on murine MBT-2 bladder cancer. Anticancer Res 1997 Mar-Apr;17(2A):1073-8.
- [123]Rodeck U, Williams N, Murthy U, Herlyn M. Monoclonal antibody 425 inhibits growth stimulation of carcinoma cells by exogenous EGF and tumor-derived EGF/TGF-alpha. J Cell Biochem 1990 Oct;44(2):69-79.
- [124]Andre S, Tough DF, Lacroix-Desmazes S, Kaveri SV, Bayry J. Surveillance of antigen-presenting cells by CD4+ CD25+ regulatory T cells in autoimmunity: immunopathogenesis and therapeutic implications. Am J Pathol 2009 May;174(5):1575-87.
- [125]Barnett B, Kryczek I, Cheng P, Zou W, Curiel TJ. Regulatory T cells in ovarian cancer: biology and therapeutic potential. Am J Reprod Immunol 2005 Dec;54(6):369-77.
- [126]Comes A, Rosso O, Orengo AM, Di Carlo E, Sorrentino C, Meazza R, et al. CD25+ regulatory T cell depletion augments immunotherapy of micrometastases by an IL-21-secreting cellular vaccine. J Immunol 2006 Feb 1;176(3):1750-8.
- [127]Colombo MP, Piconese S. Regulatory-T-cell inhibition versus depletion: the right choice in cancer immunotherapy. Nat Rev Cancer 2007 Nov;7(11):880-7.
- [128]Zhou Q, Bucher C, Munger ME, Highfill SL, Tolar J, Munn DH, et al. Depletion of endogenous tumor-associated regulatory T cells improves the efficacy of adoptive cytotoxic T-cell immunotherapy in murine acute myeloid leukemia. Blood 2009 Oct 29;114(18):3793-802.
- [129]Liu Z, Dai H, Wan N, Wang T, Bertera S, Trucco M, et al. Suppression of memory CD8 T cell generation and function by tryptophan catabolism. J Immunol 2007 Apr 1;178(7):4260-6.
- [130Grohmann U, Fallarino F, Puccetti P. Tolerance, DCs and tryptophan: much ado about IDO. Trends Immunol 2003 May;24(5):242-8.
- [131]Munn DH, Mellor AL. Indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase and tumor-induced tolerance. J Clin Invest 2007 May;117(5):1147-54.
- [132]Belladonna ML, Grohmann U, Guidetti P, Volpi C, Bianchi R, Fioretti MC, et al. Kynurenine pathway enzymes in dendritic cells initiate tolerogenesis in the absence of functional IDO. J Immunol 2006 Jul 1;177(1):130-7.
- [133]Yen MC, Lin CC, Chen YL, Huang SS, Yang HJ, Chang CP, et al. A novel cancer therapy by skin delivery of indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase siRNA. Clin Cancer Res 2009 Jan 15;15(2):641-9.
- [134]Elbashir SM, Harborth J, Lendeckel W, Yalcin A, Weber K, Tuschl T. Duplexes of 21-nucleotide RNAs mediate RNA interference in cultured mammalian cells. Nature 2001 May 24;411(6836):494-8.
- [135]Sioud M. Therapeutic siRNAs. Trends Pharmacol Sci 2004 Jan;25(1):22-8.
- [136]Dharmapuri S, Aurisicchio L, Biondo A, Welsh N, Ciliberto G, La Monica N. Antiapoptotic small interfering RNA as potent adjuvant of DNA vaccination in a mouse mammary tumor model. Hum Gene Ther 2009 Jun;20(6):589-97.
- [137]Srinivasan R, Wolchok JD. Tumor antigens for cancer immunotherapy: therapeutic potential of xenogeneic DNA vaccines. J Transl Med 2004 Apr 16;2(1):12.
- [138]Houghton AN. Cancer antigens: immune recognition of self and altered self. J Exp Med 1994 Jul 1;180(1):1-4.
- [139]Sioud M, Hansen MH. Profiling the immune response in patients with breast cancer by phage-displayed cDNA libraries. Eur J Immunol 2001 Mar;31(3):716-25.
- [140]Naftzger C, Takechi Y, Kohda H, Hara I, Vijayasaradhi S, Houghton AN. Immune response to a differentiation antigen induced by altered antigen: a study of tumor

rejection and autoimmunity. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 1996 Dec 10;93(25):14809-14.

- [141Wolchok JD, Yuan J, Houghton AN, Gallardo HF, Rasalan TS, Wang J, et al. Safety and immunogenicity of tyrosinase DNA vaccines in patients with melanoma. Mol Ther 2007 Nov;15(11):2044-50.
- [142]Bergman PJ. Canine oral melanoma. Clin Tech Small Anim Pract 2007 May;22(2):55-60.
- [143]Kim JJ, Yang JS, Nottingham LK, Tang W, Dang K, Manson KH, et al. Induction of immune responses and safety profiles in rhesus macaques immunized with a DNA vaccine expressing human prostate specific antigen. Oncogene 2001 Jul 27;20(33):4497-506.
- [144]Kamstock D, Elmslie R, Thamm D, Dow S. Evaluation of a xenogeneic VEGF vaccine in dogs with soft tissue sarcoma. Cancer Immunol Immunother 2007 Aug;56(8):1299-309.
- [145]Bergman PJ, Camps-Palau MA, McKnight JA, Leibman NF, Craft DM, Leung C, et al. Development of a xenogeneic DNA vaccine program for canine malignant melanoma at the Animal Medical Center. Vaccine 2006 May 22;24(21):4582-5.
- [146]Hawkins WG, Gold JS, Dyall R, Wolchok JD, Hoos A, Bowne WB, et al. Immunization with DNA coding for gp100 results in CD4 T-cell independent antitumor immunity. Surgery 2000 Aug;128(2):273-80.
- [147]Weber LW, Bowne WB, Wolchok JD, Srinivasan R, Qin J, Moroi Y, et al. Tumor immunity and autoimmunity induced by immunization with homologous DNA. J Clin Invest 1998 Sep 15;102(6):1258-64.
- [148]Haupt K, Roggendorf M, Mann K. The potential of DNA vaccination against tumor-associated antigens for antitumor therapy. Exp Biol Med (Maywood) 2002 Apr;227(4):227-37.
- [149]Anderson RJ, Schneider J. Plasmid DNA and viral vector-based vaccines for the treatment of cancer. Vaccine 2007 Sep 27;25 Suppl 2:B24-34.
- [150]Yoo GH, Moon J, Leblanc M, Lonardo F, Urba S, Kim H, et al. A phase 2 trial of surgery with perioperative INGN 201 (Ad5CMV-p53) gene therapy followed by chemoradiotherapy for advanced, resectable squamous cell carcinoma of the oral cavity, oropharynx, hypopharynx, and larynx: report of the Southwest Oncology Group. Arch Otolaryngol Head Neck Surg 2009 Sep;135(9):869-74.
- [151]Liu M, Acres B, Balloul JM, Bizouarne N, Paul S, Slos P, et al. Gene-based vaccines and immunotherapeutics. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2004 Oct 5;101 Suppl 2:14567-71.
- [152]Harrop R, John J, Carroll MW. Recombinant viral vectors: cancer vaccines. Adv Drug Deliv Rev 2006 Oct 1;58(8):931-47.
- [153]VandenDriessche T, Collen D, Chuah MK. Biosafety of onco-retroviral vectors. Curr Gene Ther 2003 Dec;3(6):501-15.
- [154]Chuah MK, Collen D, VandenDriessche T. Biosafety of adenoviral vectors. Curr Gene Ther 2003 Dec;3(6):527-43.
- [155]Gallo-Penn AM, Shirley PS, Andrews JL, Tinlin S, Webster S, Cameron C, et al. Systemic delivery of an adenoviral vector encoding canine factor VIII results in short-term phenotypic correction, inhibitor development, and biphasic liver toxicity in hemophilia A dogs. Blood 2001 Jan 1;97(1):107-13.
- [156]Liu Q, Muruve DA. Molecular basis of the inflammatory response to adenovirus vectors. Gene Ther 2003 Jun;10(11):935-40.
- [157]Godbey WT, Wu KK, Hirasaki GJ, Mikos AG. Improved packing of poly(ethylenimine)/DNA complexes increases transfection efficiency. Gene Ther

1999 Aug;6(8):1380-8.

- [158]Leutenegger CM, Boretti FS, Mislin CN, Flynn JN, Schroff M, Habel A, et al. Immunization of cats against feline immunodeficiency virus (FIV) infection by using minimalistic immunogenic defined gene expression vector vaccines expressing FIV gp140 alone or with feline interleukin-12 (IL-12), IL-16, or a CpG motif. J Virol 2000 Nov;74(22):10447-57.
- [159]De Rose R, Tennent J, McWaters P, Chaplin PJ, Wood PR, Kimpton W, et al. Efficacy of DNA vaccination by different routes of immunisation in sheep. Vet Immunol Immunopathol 2002 Nov;90(1-2):55-63.
- [160]Kodihalli S, Haynes JR, Robinson HL, Webster RG. Cross-protection among lethal H5N2 influenza viruses induced by DNA vaccine to the hemagglutinin. J Virol 1997 May;71(5):3391-6.
- [161]Lodmell DL, Ray NB, Parnell MJ, Ewalt LC, Hanlon CA, Shaddock JH, et al. DNA immunization protects nonhuman primates against rabies virus. Nat Med 1998 Aug;4(8):949-52.
- [162]Macklin MD, McCabe D, McGregor MW, Neumann V, Meyer T, Callan R, et al. Immunization of pigs with a particle-mediated DNA vaccine to influenza A virus protects against challenge with homologous virus. J Virol 1998 Feb;72(2):1491-6.
- [163]Tischer BK, Schumacher D, Beer M, Beyer J, Teifke JP, Osterrieder K, et al. A DNA vaccine containing an infectious Marek's disease virus genome can confer protection against tumorigenic Marek's disease in chickens. J Gen Virol 2002 Oct;83(Pt 10):2367-76.
- [164]Chuang YC, Yang LC, Chiang PH, Kang HY, Ma WL, Wu PC, et al. Gene gun particle encoding preproenkephalin cDNA produces analgesia against capsaicin-induced bladder pain in rats. Urology 2005 Apr;65(4):804-10.
- [165]McMahon JM, Wells DJ. Electroporation for gene transfer to skeletal muscles: current status. BioDrugs 2004;18(3):155-65.
- [166]Bodles-Brakhop AM, Heller R, Draghia-Akli R. Electroporation for the delivery of DNA-based vaccines and immunotherapeutics: current clinical developments. Mol Ther 2009 Apr;17(4):585-92.
- [167]van Drunen S, den Hurk LV. Novel methods for the non-invasive administration of DNA therapeutics and vaccines. Curr Drug Deliv 2006 Jan;3(1):3-15.
- [168]Rols MP. Mechanism by which electroporation mediates DNA migration and entry into cells and targeted tissues. Methods Mol Biol 2008;423:19-33.
- [169]Rizzuto G, Cappelletti M, Maione D, Savino R, Lazzaro D, Costa P, et al. Efficient and regulated erythropoietin production by naked DNA injection and muscle electroporation. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 1999 May 25;96(11):6417-22.
- [170 Bettan M, Emmanuel F, Darteil R, Caillaud JM, Soubrier F, Delaere P, et al. High-level protein secretion into blood circulation after electric pulse-mediated gene transfer into skeletal muscle. Mol Ther 2000 Sep;2(3):204-10.
- [171]Vicat JM, Boisseau S, Jourdes P, Laine M, Wion D, Bouali-Benazzouz R, et al. Muscle transfection by electroporation with high-voltage and short-pulse currents provides high-level and long-lasting gene expression. Hum Gene Ther 2000 Apr 10;11(6):909-16.
- [172]Mathiesen I. Electropermeabilization of skeletal muscle enhances gene transfer in vivo. Gene Ther 1999 Apr;6(4):508-14.
- [173]Vilquin JT, Kennel PF, Paturneau-Jouas M, Chapdelaine P, Boissel N, Delaere P, et al. Electrotransfer of naked DNA in the skeletal muscles of animal models of muscular dystrophies. Gene Ther 2001 Jul;8(14):1097-107.
- [174]Heller R, Schultz J, Lucas ML, Jaroszeski MJ, Heller LC, Gilbert RA, et al.

Intradermal delivery of interleukin-12 plasmid DNA by in vivo electroporation. DNA Cell Biol 2001 Jan;20(1):21-6.

- [175]Zhang L, Nolan E, Kreitschitz S, Rabussay DP. Enhanced delivery of naked DNA to the skin by non-invasive in vivo electroporation. Biochim Biophys Acta 2002 Aug 15;1572(1):1-9.
- [176]Heller R, Jaroszeski M, Atkin A, Moradpour D, Gilbert R, Wands J, et al. In vivo gene electroinjection and expression in rat liver. FEBS Lett 1996 Jul 8;389(3):225-8.
- [177]Liu F, Huang L. Electric gene transfer to the liver following systemic administration of plasmid DNA. Gene Ther 2002 Aug;9(16):1116-9.
- [178]Dean DA, Machado-Aranda D, Blair-Parks K, Yeldandi AV, Young JL. Electroporation as a method for high-level nonviral gene transfer to the lung. Gene Ther 2003 Sep;10(18):1608-15.
- [179]Matsumoto T, Komori K, Shoji T, Kuma S, Kume M, Yamaoka T, et al. Successful and optimized in vivo gene transfer to rabbit carotid artery mediated by electronic pulse. Gene Ther 2001 Aug;8(15):1174-9.
- [180]Tsujie M, Isaka Y, Nakamura H, Imai E, Hori M. Electroporation-mediated gene transfer that targets glomeruli. J Am Soc Nephrol 2001 May;12(5):949-54.
- [181]Tabata H, Nakajima K. Efficient in utero gene transfer system to the developing mouse brain using electroporation: visualization of neuronal migration in the developing cortex. Neuroscience 2001;103(4):865-72.
- [182]Wei F, Xia XM, Tang J, Ao H, Ko S, Liauw J, et al. Calmodulin regulates synaptic plasticity in the anterior cingulate cortex and behavioral responses: a microelectroporation study in adult rodents. J Neurosci 2003 Sep 10;23(23):8402-9.
- [183]Al-Sakere B, Andre F, Bernat C, Connault E, Opolon P, Davalos RV, et al. Tumor ablation with irreversible electroporation. PLoS One 2007;2(11):e1135.
- [184]Wang XL, Wang F, Wu JH, Yi MY, Xu P, Zhao XF, et al. [Tumor targeting gene transfer mediated by electroporation for growth suppression of retinoblastoma in vivo]. Zhonghua Yan Ke Za Zhi 2005 Oct;41(10):900-4.
- [185]Riemann F, Zimmermann U, Pilwat G. Release and uptake of haemoglobin and ions in red blood cells induced by dielectric breakdown. Biochim Biophys Acta 1975 Jul 3;394(3):449-62.
- [186]Mir LM, Orlowski S. Mechanisms of electrochemotherapy. Adv Drug Deliv Rev 1999 Jan 4;35(1):107-18.
- [187]Bureau MF, Gehl J, Deleuze V, Mir LM, Scherman D. Importance of association between permeabilization and electrophoretic forces for intramuscular DNA electrotransfer. Biochim Biophys Acta 2000 May 1;1474(3):353-9.
- [188]Neumann E, Kakorin S, Tsoneva I, Nikolova B, Tomov T. Calcium-mediated DNA adsorption to yeast cells and kinetics of cell transformation by electroporation. Biophys J 1996 Aug;71(2):868-77.
- [189]Mennuni C, Calvaruso F, Zampaglione I, Rizzuto G, Rinaudo D, Dammassa E, et al. Hyaluronidase increases electrogene transfer efficiency in skeletal muscle. Hum Gene Ther 2002 Feb 10;13(3):355-65.
- [190]Nicol F, Wong M, MacLaughlin FC, Perrard J, Wilson E, Nordstrom JL, et al. Poly-L-glutamate, an anionic polymer, enhances transgene expression for plasmids delivered by intramuscular injection with in vivo electroporation. Gene Ther 2002 Oct;9(20):1351-8.
- [191]Fewell JG, MacLaughlin F, Mehta V, Gondo M, Nicol F, Wilson E, et al. Gene therapy for the treatment of hemophilia B using PINC-formulated plasmid delivered to muscle with electroporation. Mol Ther 2001 Apr;3(4):574-83.
- [192]Baumgartner I, Pieczek A, Manor O, Blair R, Kearney M, Walsh K, et al.

Constitutive expression of phVEGF165 after intramuscular gene transfer promotes collateral vessel development in patients with critical limb ischemia. Circulation 1998 Mar 31;97(12):1114-23.

- [193]Roos AK, King A, Pisa P. DNA vaccination for prostate cancer. Methods Mol Biol 2008;423:463-72.
- [194]Miller AM, Ozenci V, Kiessling R, Pisa P. Immune monitoring in a phase 1 trial of a PSA DNA vaccine in patients with hormone-refractory prostate cancer. J Immunother 2005 Jul-Aug;28(4):389-95.
- [195]Mitragotri S. Immunization without needles. Nat Rev Immunol 2005 Dec;5(12):905-16.
- [196]Bremseth DL, Pass F. Delivery of insulin by jet injection: recent observations. Diabetes Technol Ther 2001 Summer;3(2):225-32.
- [197]Lindmayer I, Menassa K, Lambert J, Moghrabi A, Legendre L, Legault C, et al. Development of new jet injector for insulin therapy. Diabetes Care 1986 May-Jun;9(3):294-7.
- [198]Baxter J, Mitragotri S. Needle-free liquid jet injections: mechanisms and applications. Expert Rev Med Devices 2006 Sep;3(5):565-74.
- [199]Dean HJ, Fuller D, Osorio JE. Powder and particle-mediated approaches for delivery of DNA and protein vaccines into the epidermis. Comp Immunol Microbiol Infect Dis 2003 Oct;26(5-6):373-88.
- [200]Peachman KK, Rao M, Alving CR. Immunization with DNA through the skin. Methods 2003 Nov;31(3):232-42.
- [201]Imoto J, Konishi E. Needle-free jet injection of a mixture of Japanese encephalitis DNA and protein vaccines: a strategy to effectively enhance immunogenicity of the DNA vaccine in a murine model. Viral Immunol 2005;18(1):205-12.
- [202]Manam S, Ledwith BJ, Barnum AB, Troilo PJ, Pauley CJ, Harper LB, et al. Plasmid DNA vaccines: tissue distribution and effects of DNA sequence, adjuvants and delivery method on integration into host DNA. Intervirology 2000;43(4-6):273-81.
- [203]Aguiar JC, Hedstrom RC, Rogers WO, Charoenvit Y, Sacci JB, Jr., Lanar DE, et al. Enhancement of the immune response in rabbits to a malaria DNA vaccine by immunization with a needle-free jet device. Vaccine 2001 Oct 12;20(1-2):275-80.
- [204]van Drunen Littel-van den Hurk S, Babiuk S, Babiuk LA. Needle-free delivery of veterinary DNA vaccines. Methods Mol Med 2006;127:91-105.
- [205]Kersten G, Hirschberg H. Needle-free vaccine delivery. Expert Opin Drug Deliv 2007 Sep;4(5):459-74.
- [206]Goubier A, Fuhrmann L, Forest L, Cachet N, Evrad-Blanchard M, Juillard V, et al. Superiority of needle-free transdermal plasmid delivery for the induction of antigen-specific IFNgamma T cell responses in the dog. Vaccine 2008 Apr 24;26(18):2186-90.
- [207]Bergman PJ, McKnight J, Novosad A, Charney S, Farrelly J, Craft D, et al. Long-term survival of dogs with advanced malignant melanoma after DNA vaccination with xenogeneic human tyrosinase: a phase I trial. Clin Cancer Res 2003 Apr;9(4):1284-90.
- [208]Alexander AN, Huelsmeyer MK, Mitzey A, Dubielzig RR, Kurzman ID, Macewen EG, et al. Development of an allogeneic whole-cell tumor vaccine expressing xenogeneic gp100 and its implementation in a phase II clinical trial in canine patients with malignant melanoma. Cancer Immunol Immunother 2006 Apr;55(4):433-42.
- [209]Yuan J, Ku GY, Gallardo HF, Orlandi F, Manukian G, Rasalan TS, et al. Safety and immunogenicity of a human and mouse gp100 DNA vaccine in a phase I trial of

patients with melanoma. Cancer Immun 2009;9:5.

- [210]Cohen D. The canine transmissible venereal tumor: a unique result of tumor progression. Adv Cancer Res 1985;43:75-112.
- [211]Yang TJ, Jones JB. Canine transmissible venereal sarcoma: transplantation studies in neonatal and adult dogs. J Natl Cancer Inst 1973 Dec;51(6):1915-8.
- [212]Chu RM, Lin CY, Liu CC, Yang SY, Hsiao YW, Hung SW, et al. Proliferation characteristics of canine transmissible venereal tumor. Anticancer Res 2001 Nov-Dec;21(6A):4017-24.
- [213]Sandusky GE, Carlton WW, Wightman KA. Diagnostic immunohistochemistry of canine round cell tumors. Vet Pathol 1987 Nov;24(6):495-9.
- [214]Mozos E, Mendez A, Gomez-Villamandos JC, Martin De Las Mulas J, Perez J. Immunohistochemical characterization of canine transmissible venereal tumor. Vet Pathol 1996 May;33(3):257-63.
- [215]Murgia C, Pritchard JK, Kim SY, Fassati A, Weiss RA. Clonal origin and evolution of a transmissible cancer. Cell 2006 Aug 11;126(3):477-87.
- [216]Katzir N, Rechavi G, Cohen JB, Unger T, Simoni F, Segal S, et al. "Retroposon" insertion into the cellular oncogene c-myc in canine transmissible venereal tumor. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 1985 Feb;82(4):1054-8.
- [217]Choi Y, Ishiguro N, Shinagawa M, Kim CJ, Okamoto Y, Minami S, et al. Molecular structure of canine LINE-1 elements in canine transmissible venereal tumor. Anim Genet 1999 Feb;30(1):51-3.
- [218]Guvenc T, Haligur M, Orman MN, Haziroglu R. Mitosis and apoptosis in canine cutaneous histiocytoma and transmissible venereal tumour. Acta Vet Hung 2002;50(3):315-21.
- [219]Hess A, Cunningham B, Taylor Bennett B, Epstein R. In vitro correlates of the in vivo course of the canine transmissible venereal tumor studied by mixed lymphocyte-tumor cultures. Transplant Proc 1975 Dec;7(4):507-11.
- [220]Yang TJ, Chandler JP, Dunne-Anway S. Growth stage dependent expression of MHC antigens on the canine transmissible venereal sarcoma. Br J Cancer 1987 Feb;55(2):131-4.
- [221]Hsiao YW, Liao KW, Hung SW, Chu RM. Effect of tumor infiltrating lymphocytes on the expression of MHC molecules in canine transmissible venereal tumor cells. Vet Immunol Immunopathol 2002 Aug;87(1-2):19-27.
- [222]Liu CC, Wang YS, Lin CY, Chuang TF, Liao KW, Chi KH, et al. Transient downregulation of monocyte-derived dendritic-cell differentiation, function, and survival during tumoral progression and regression in an in vivo canine model of transmissible venereal tumor. Cancer Immunol Immunother 2008 Apr;57(4):479-91.
- [223Lin CY, Chuang TF, Liao KW, Huang YJ, Pai CC, Chu RM. Combined immunogene therapy of IL-6 and IL-15 enhances anti-tumor activity through augmented NK cytotoxicity. Cancer Lett 2008 Dec 18;272(2):285-95.
- [224]Hsiao YW, Liao KW, Chung TF, Liu CH, Hsu CD, Chu RM. Interactions of host IL-6 and IFN-gamma and cancer-derived TGF-beta1 on MHC molecule expression during tumor spontaneous regression. Cancer Immunol Immunother 2008 Jul;57(7):1091-104.
- [225]Hsiao YW, Liao KW, Hung SW, Chu RM. Tumor-infiltrating lymphocyte secretion of IL-6 antagonizes tumor-derived TGF-beta 1 and restores the lymphokine-activated killing activity. J Immunol 2004 Feb 1;172(3):1508-14.
- [226]Kirkness EF, Bafna V, Halpern AL, Levy S, Remington K, Rusch DB, et al. The dog genome: survey sequencing and comparative analysis. Science 2003 Sep 26;301(5641):1898-903.

- [227]Chou PC, Chuang TF, Jan TR, Gion HC, Huang YC, Lei HJ, et al. Effects of immunotherapy of IL-6 and IL-15 plasmids on transmissible venereal tumor in beagles. Vet Immunol Immunopathol 2009 Jul 15;130(1-2):25-34.
- [228]Chuang TF, Lee SC, Liao KW, Hsiao YW, Lo CH, Chiang BL, et al. Electroporation-mediated IL-12 gene therapy in a transplantable canine cancer model. Int J Cancer 2009 Aug 1;125(3):698-707.
- [229]Gregor PD, Wolchok JD, Turaga V, Latouche JB, Sadelain M, Bacich D, et al. Induction of autoantibodies to syngeneic prostate-specific membrane antigen by xenogeneic vaccination. Int J Cancer 2005 Sep 1;116(3):415-21.
- [230]Choo AY, Choo DK, Kim JJ, Weiner DB. DNA vaccination in immunotherapy of cancer. Cancer Treat Res 2005;123:137-56.
- [231]Daugaard M, Rohde M, Jaattela M. The heat shock protein 70 family: Highly homologous proteins with overlapping and distinct functions. FEBS Lett 2007 Jul 31;581(19):3702-10.
- [232]Beere HM. Stressed to death: regulation of apoptotic signaling pathways by the heat shock proteins. Sci STKE 2001 Jul 31;2001(93):re1.
- [233]Liao KW, Hung SW, Hsiao YW, Bennett M, Chu RM. Canine transmissible venereal tumor cell depletion of B lymphocytes: molecule(s) specifically toxic for B cells. Vet Immunol Immunopathol 2003 May 12;92(3-4):149-62.
- [234]Burger JA, Peled A. CXCR4 antagonists: targeting the microenvironment in leukemia and other cancers. Leukemia 2009 Jan;23(1):43-52.
- [235]Xie Y, Bai O, Zhang H, Yuan J, Zong S, Chibbar R, et al. Membrane-bound HSP70-engineered myeloma cell-derived exosomes stimulate more efficient CD8(+) CTL- and NK-mediated antitumor immunity than exosomes released from heat-shocked tumor cells expressing cytoplasmic HSP70. J Cell Mol Med 2009 Jul 20.
- [236]Bowne WB, Srinivasan R, Wolchok JD, Hawkins WG, Blachere NE, Dyall R, et al. Coupling and uncoupling of tumor immunity and autoimmunity. J Exp Med 1999 Dec 6;190(11):1717-22.
- [237]Buller RM, Holmes KL, Hugin A, Frederickson TN, Morse HC, 3rd. Induction of cytotoxic T-cell responses in vivo in the absence of CD4 helper cells. Nature 1987 Jul 2-8;328(6125):77-9.
- [238]Janssen EM, Lemmens EE, Wolfe T, Christen U, von Herrath MG, Schoenberger SP. CD4+ T cells are required for secondary expansion and memory in CD8+ T lymphocytes. Nature 2003 Feb 20;421(6925):852-6.
- [239]Rahemtulla A, Fung-Leung WP, Schilham MW, Kundig TM, Sambhara SR, Narendran A, et al. Normal development and function of CD8+ cells but markedly decreased helper cell activity in mice lacking CD4. Nature 1991 Sep 12;353(6340):180-4.
- [240]Fujiwara H FM, Yoshioka T, Nakajima H, HamaokaT. The role of tumor-specific Lyt-1+ 2- T cellsin eradicating tumor cells in vivo. J Immunol 1984;133:1671-6.
- [241]Greenberg PD KD, Cheever MA. Therapy of disseminated murine leukemia with cyclophosphamide and immune Lyt-1+ 2- T cells. J Exp Med 1985;161:1122-34.
- [242]Perez-Diez A, Joncker NT, Choi K, Chan WF, Anderson CC, Lantz O, et al. CD4 cells can be more efficient at tumor rejection than CD8 cells. Blood 2007 Jun 15;109(12):5346-54.
- [243]Smorlesi A, Papalini F, Amici A, Orlando F, Pierpaoli S, Mancini C, et al. Evaluation of different plasmid DNA delivery systems for immunization against HER2/neu in a transgenic murine model of mammary carcinoma. Vaccine 2006 Mar 10;24(11):1766-75.

- [244]Gronevik E, Mathiesen I, Lomo T. Early events of electroporation-mediated intramuscular DNA vaccination potentiate Th1-directed immune responses. J Gene Med 2005 Sep;7(9):1246-54.
- [245]Hirao LA, Wu L, Khan AS, Satishchandran A, Draghia-Akli R, Weiner DB. Intradermal/subcutaneous immunization by electroporation improves plasmid vaccine delivery and potency in pigs and rhesus macaques. Vaccine 2008 Jan 17;26(3):440-8.
- [246]Arora SK, Singh G, Sehgal S. Comparative evaluation of anti-heat shock protein antibodies in SLE and healthy controls. Scand J Rheumatol 1995;24(3):160-3.
- [247]Figueredo A, Ibarra JL, Rodriguez A, Molino AM, Gomez-de la Concha E, Fernandez-Cruz A, et al. Increased serum levels of IgA antibodies to hsp70 protein in patients with diabetes mellitus: their relationship with vascular complications. Clin Immunol Immunopathol 1996 Jun;79(3):252-5.
- [248]Menoret A, Chandawarkar RY, Srivastava PK. Natural autoantibodies against heat-shock proteins hsp70 and gp96: implications for immunotherapy using heat-shock proteins. Immunology 2000 Nov;101(3):364-70.
- [249]Zlacka D, Vavrincova P, Hien Nguyen TT, Hromadnikova I. Frequency of anti-hsp60, -65 and -70 antibodies in sera of patients with juvenile idiopathic arthritis. J Autoimmun 2006 Sep;27(2):81-8.
- [250]Kottke T, Sanchez-Perez L, Diaz RM, Thompson J, Chong H, Harrington K, et al. Induction of hsp70-mediated Th17 autoimmunity can be exploited as immunotherapy for metastatic prostate cancer. Cancer Res 2007 Dec 15;67(24):11970-9.
- [251]Vila J, Isaacs JD, Anderson AE. Regulatory T cells and autoimmunity. Curr Opin Hematol 2009 Jul;16(4):274-9.

